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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Good morning,

          3  everyone. On this wintery day, there is so much ice

          4  out there we can't even move our cars. Trying to

          5  shovel away the ice is like trying to use a

          6  toothpick with a shovel, you need an ice pick out

          7  there in order to relocate your car. I was reading

          8  the Daily News today and people are up in arms as a

          9  result of the Mayor, or the Sanitation Commissioner

         10  saying that we had to move our cars yesterday. It

         11  was a mess, let me tell you.

         12                 But we're not here to talk about

         13  Sanitation and the snow and ice, we're here to talk

         14  about education, and this is an oversight hearing on

         15  the Department of Education Small School Initiative:

         16  Issues and Concerns.

         17                 First, I would like to thank all of

         18  you for coming here this morning. As many of you

         19  know, we were originally scheduled to hold this

         20  hearing on small schools on January 25th, but we

         21  postponed it in order to conduct a hearing on the

         22  Mayor's newly announced reforms to the New York City

         23  Public School System.

         24                 So, I wanted to thank you for your

         25  patience and apologize for any inconvenience that
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          2  this change may have caused you.

          3                 Today we will hear from the

          4  Administration, unions and advocates about the Small

          5  Schools Initiative. We will explore some of the

          6  issues and concerns that have arisen since

          7  implementation began in 2002.

          8                 I would like to say right at the

          9  outset that small schools have a lot of potential

         10  benefits to offer New York City public school

         11  students, especially those with the greatest needs.

         12                 First and foremost, small schools

         13  provide a more personalized learning environment,

         14  allowing more individual attention and reducing the

         15  chances for students to fall through the cracks.

         16                 They give students and parents more

         17  public school choices, with a wide variety of

         18  themes, instructional approaches, and community

         19  partners.

         20                 Small schools are present -- also

         21  present an opportunity for more experimentation and

         22  innovation in the classroom.

         23                 However, small schools are not a

         24  panacea. Small schools can and do fail. Recently,

         25  the Department of Education announced that they will
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          2  be closing five high schools. Two out of the five,

          3  Urban Piece Academy, and School for the Physical

          4  City, are small schools.

          5                 There are also some disadvantages to

          6  small schools. The drawback mentioned most often is

          7  that small schools lack the number of students

          8  necessary to be able to offer elective courses, like

          9  music, dance, or drama, or journalism, that keep

         10  kids engaged in schools.

         11                 Without this critical mass of

         12  students, small schools are hard-pressed to provide

         13  students with the opportunities to participate in

         14  sports, or debate teams, school newspapers, band,

         15  chorus and many other extra curricular activities

         16  that larger schools can.

         17                 Some teachers and parents also claim

         18  that most of the benefits that are attributed to

         19  small schools are really more a result of small

         20  class sizes that are a feature typically found in

         21  small schools.

         22                 They say that the Department of

         23  Education can achieve most of these benefits from

         24  students by reducing class sizes in existing large

         25  schools, with far less upheaval, and quite frankly,
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          2  small high schools are not right for everyone. Just

          3  the way that small colleges don't appeal to all

          4  students.

          5                 What we most want to address today

          6  are the issues and concerns that have come up as so

          7  many new small schools, almost 200 have been opened

          8  since 2002.

          9                 Some say that there have been too

         10  much emphasis on quantity over quality, with too

         11  many new schools open in too short of a time, and

         12  with too little planning and preparation. Finding

         13  space for all of these new schools has created a

         14  problem too.

         15                 Many new schools are shoe-horned into

         16  existing schools that the Department of Education

         17  considers under-utilized. Often with little or no

         18  consultation with parents, teachers and

         19  administrators in the larger host schools.

         20                 Problems also arise when multiple

         21  schools share a building, such as overcrowding,

         22  unsafe hallways, and adequate resources, friction

         23  over shared space and a climate of mistrust, leading

         24  to more attention than sometimes serious conflict

         25  among students and staff of the different schools.
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          2                 Other schools are also impacted,

          3  especially when large high schools are closed or

          4  phased out and replaced by smaller schools. One of

          5  the unintended consequences that often results in

          6  overcrowding of surrounding schools caused by

          7  displacement of students from large schools that

          8  have been phased out or closed. This overcrowding

          9  can cause schools that were once considered high

         10  performing, such as A. Philip Randolf High School in

         11  my district, or adequately performing schools, to

         12  suffer a downward spiral of academic decline and

         13  face the prospect of being closed themselves.

         14                 This can set in motion a vicious

         15  cycle of replacing large failing schools with new

         16  small schools, which may overcrowd and destabilize

         17  rounding schools, helping to create yet more large

         18  failing schools.

         19                 One of the most serious criticisms of

         20  the new small schools is that some of the students

         21  who could most benefit from their personalized

         22  environment, Special Education students and English

         23  Language Learners, are deliberately excluded from

         24  attending these schools for at least the first two

         25  years.
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          2                 While the Department of Education

          3  maintained that this policy is in place because new

          4  schools need time to develop the capacity to serve

          5  students with special needs, critics charge that it

          6  is really about artificially inflating performance

          7  data of a new small school.

          8                 We will be hearing testimony today on

          9  this issue from a recent report that says that this

         10  policy of exclusion may extend beyond the first two

         11  years.

         12                 Given this context, we are eager to

         13  hear about any new strategies that the Department of

         14  Education has or will introduce to address these

         15  problems.

         16                 I hate to sound like a broken record

         17  at every hearing, but one of the most important

         18  things that the Department of Education needs to do

         19  is increase consultation and collaboration with

         20  stakeholders - parents, teachers, administrators and

         21  elected officials and other community leaders - way

         22  before a school is open.

         23                 The Education Committee looks forward

         24  to beginning a dialogue on what more can be done to

         25  improve the process, of creating new small schools,
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          2  and strengthening existing large schools to help all

          3  New York City school children get the best possible

          4  education.

          5                 And before hearing from the

          6  Administration, I want to alert my colleagues that

          7  we are once again going to use a round robin

          8  approach: each Council member will have the

          9  opportunity to ask one question before moving on to

         10  the next Council member, in order to allow all

         11  Council members an opportunity to be heard before

         12  they need to go on to other hearings or other

         13  commitments. So I appreciate your cooperation.

         14                 Before we hear from the

         15  Administration, let me introduce my colleagues that

         16  are present this morning, understanding that many of

         17  us here sitting in front of you will have to go next

         18  door to vote on some items in the Zoning Committee,

         19  including myself, and then subsequent after the

         20  Zoning Subcommittee, the full Land Use Committee, so

         21  you will see us moving back and forth between

         22  committees.

         23                 But to my right, Maria del Carmen

         24  Arroyo of the Bronx, Peter Vallone, Jr., of Queens,

         25  John Liu, to my left, of Queens, Jessica Lappin of
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          2  Manhattan, Dan Garodnick of Manhattan. Who is that?

          3  Domenic Reccia of Brooklyn. And behind me, Melinda

          4  Katz of Queens, and in front of me to my left is

          5  Simcha Felder of Brooklyn, and Eric Gioia of Queens,

          6  and Jimmy Vacca of the Bronx.

          7                 With that, let me just welcome the

          8  Administration, Jemina Bernard, the Department of

          9  Education's Chief Operating Officer at the Office of

         10  the New Schools. And also Josh Thomases; is that

         11  correct, sir?

         12                 MR. THOMASES: That's correct, sir.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: The Chief

         14  Administrative Officer of the Office of New Schools.

         15  Welcome, to both of you, and we look forward to your

         16  testimony.

         17                 MR. THOMASES: Thank you. Good

         18  morning, Chairman Jackson, and members of the

         19  Committee on Education. Thank you for this

         20  opportunity to testify today.

         21                 My name is Josh Thomases. I am the

         22  Chief Academic Officer of the Office of New Schools.

         23  I'm joined by my colleague, Jemina Bernard, Chief

         24  Operating Officer.

         25                 I look forward to addressing any
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          2  questions you have about the New Schools Initiative.

          3                 First, I would like to take the

          4  opportunity to do three things:

          5                 1) to put new schools into the

          6  context of the overall secondary school reform

          7  strategy in New York City.

          8                 2) to define our new school strategy;

          9  and

         10                 3) talk about how these schools have

         11  helped drive improvement throughout our school

         12  system. The core goal of the Chancellor's Children

         13  First School reforms is educating all of our 1.1

         14  million school children so that they are able to

         15  make academic progress and eventually graduate from

         16  high school, prepared for both college and the

         17  workforce. High school reform is an urgent and key

         18  focus of our work.

         19                 We have made record progress in the

         20  past four plus years since the Chancellor and the

         21  Mayor first launched Children's First.

         22                 Our students are reading and doing

         23  math at a higher level, and the percentage of

         24  students graduating from our high schools has

         25  increased more than seven points across the City to
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          2  the highest level in more than 20 years.

          3                 But still, far too many of our

          4  students are not receiving the kind of education

          5  they need and deserve. Today, 140,000 of our

          6  students between the ages of 16 and 21 have either

          7  dropped out of high school or are over-age and

          8  under-credited, on a slippery slope to becoming

          9  dropouts.

         10                 Today, only one in four of our

         11  African-American and Latino students are graduating

         12  with a Regents Diploma. This is unacceptable.

         13                 These are the kinds of figures that

         14  keep us working hard every day, creating the kinds

         15  of schools that can engage all of our students and

         16  give all of our students the chance they need.

         17                 The effective low-performing high

         18  schools and the future of our students and the

         19  future of our City is incredibly harmful. It is a

         20  price we cannot afford to pay.

         21                 Children First recognizes that we

         22  cannot accomplish what we must for our students and

         23  families of New York City without fundamentally

         24  reshaping our public education system and creating a

         25  diverse portfolio of schools, schools that are
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          2  capable to get through to all students, schools that

          3  are capable of challenging all of our students, and

          4  helping them to meet their potential.

          5                 New small secondary schools are a key

          6  part of our reform effort. Since 2002, we have

          7  created 197 small secondary schools. By September,

          8  we will open an additional 36 schools. Today, these

          9  schools serve about 16 percent of the high school

         10  students in the City. That's about 36,000 students.

         11                 Many of our new schools are located

         12  in the communities that traditionally have not

         13  provided good choices to students and families, and

         14  many are located within schools that for years have

         15  graduated only about 35 percent of their students.

         16  Some families and communities were skeptical when we

         17  began creating these small schools. Today, parents

         18  and communities are telling us that they want us to

         19  open new schools more quickly. That's because these

         20  schools are creating opportunities that did not

         21  exist before.

         22                 Parents know that these schools are

         23  helping their children succeed. Last spring, 15 of

         24  our new schools graduated their first class. Our

         25  preliminary numbers showed that these schools
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          2  graduated an average of 78 percent of their

          3  students. This graduation rate is more than 20

          4  percentage points higher than the Citywide average

          5  in 2005, and nearly double that of the schools they

          6  replaced. Of the 15 schools, 12 are located on the

          7  campuses of former large comprehensive high schools

          8  that had been phased out. In 2002, those schools had

          9  a graduation rate of 39 percent. Think about this:

         10  when the students of these new schools entered as

         11  ninth graders, more than 80 percent were not meeting

         12  New York State standards in English and math.

         13                 Four years later, nearly 80 percent

         14  were ready to graduate. These schools aren't

         15  graduating more kids because their populations are

         16  any different. In fact, their populations closely

         17  resemble the populations of the schools they

         18  replaced. Many students come in below grade level.

         19  On the eighth grade ELA and math exams, 81 percent

         20  of the entering ninth graders in new small schools

         21  performed below standard compared to 68 percent

         22  Citywide. The vast majority, 91 percent, are

         23  African-American or Latino, compared to 70 percent

         24  Citywide, and 13 percent of entering ninth graders

         25  are English language learners, compared to 11
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          2  percent throughout the City.

          3                 Developing new secondary schools is

          4  an essential element of our Children First Reform

          5  Strategy.

          6                 Since 2002, we have been working to

          7  create a diverse portfolio of school options. These

          8  schools are built on knowledge from research and

          9  also what we have learned about what makes good

         10  schools. Our schools offer:

         11                 - strong leadership that supports

         12  effective instruction;

         13                 - high expectations for all students,

         14  with a clear definition of the knowledge, skills and

         15  personal attributes students should develop;

         16                 - caring and respectful relationships

         17  between teachers and students with every student

         18  known by an adult and engaged in meaningful work;

         19                 - instruction that is tailored to

         20  individual's learning needs;

         21                 - active roles for students in all

         22  aspects of school life;

         23                 - clear connections and pathways to

         24  post-secondary education, careers and civic

         25  participation;
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          2                 - demonstration of the capacity to

          3  address the needs of English language learners, and

          4  students with special needs;

          5                 - and finally, accountability, both

          6  internally and externally for an individual

          7  student's success.

          8                 The vast majority of our schools

          9  collaborate with not-for-profit organizations and

         10  local community partners. These organizations,

         11  including universities, youth development

         12  organizations, and cultural institutions, drive

         13  educational resources to schools, create new

         14  opportunities for students, like internships and

         15  after-school activities, and strengthen the

         16  connections between schools and the communities they

         17  serve.

         18                 Since we've been creating these

         19  schools every year for the past five, you are all

         20  probably familiar with the way we go about

         21  developing them, but I would like to briefly

         22  describe the process.

         23                 Every year we host an open house in

         24  early September for members of the community,

         25  elected officials and educators interested in
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          2  learning about the new schools' development process.

          3  Then throughout the call we hold weekly sessions at

          4  which we talk about important elements of schools,

          5  from individualizing instruction to guidance to

          6  curriculum to leadership development with the teams

          7  working to create new school proposals.

          8                 We receive applications in December

          9  and notify the accepted teams in late January and

         10  early February. We aim to place schools in

         11  communities where demand is high. We also try to use

         12  all available space wisely. So, we site schools in

         13  new space, leased space, underutilized buildings and

         14  in space freed up when failing schools are phased

         15  out.

         16                 From 2002 to 2006, as we phased out

         17  high schools with chronically poor graduation rates,

         18  and other entrenched problems, we have created a net

         19  gain of over 11,000 seats for our students. This

         20  number will continue to grow as schools mature to

         21  scale.

         22                 Once schools are selected, new school

         23  leaders participate in the New School Intensive, a

         24  leadership development program run by the New York

         25  City Leadership Academy in partnership with the
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          2  Office of New Schools.

          3                 Now I'd like to turn it over to my

          4  colleague, Jemina Bernard, who will talk about

          5  enrollment in new schools, and our approach to

          6  serving English Language Learners and Special

          7  Education students.

          8                 MS. BERNARD: Thank you, Josh.

          9                 Students are admitted to new high

         10  schools through our high school enrollment process,

         11  the same process that governs enrollment at all of

         12  our schools. Middle schools enroll students through

         13  regional enrollment processes, although beginning

         14  next year there will be one process to govern all of

         15  middle school enrollments as well.

         16                 The vast majority of our new high

         17  schools accept all students who have demonstrated

         18  informed choice through the high schools admissions

         19  process.

         20                 A student demonstrates an informed

         21  choice when he attends an information session,

         22  visits a booth at a high school fair, or speaks to a

         23  school representative.

         24                 Informed choice is important because

         25  many of our new schools have themes or special
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          2  focuses. We want to make sure that students at art

          3  and music schools, for example, are interested in

          4  art and music, but beyond interest there is no other

          5  requirement for entrance to the overwhelming

          6  majority of our schools.

          7                 I know there has been a great deal of

          8  confusion around our admissions policies, so let me

          9  be clear: all of our schools serve all students,

         10  including Special Education students and English

         11  Language Learners, from the day they open their

         12  doors.

         13                 In fact, new schools are enrolling

         14  higher percentages of English Language Learners than

         15  other schools Citywide. At our new schools, 12.9

         16  percent of entering 9th grade students are English

         17  Language Learners, compared to 10.8 percent in

         18  existing schools.

         19                 Special Education enrollment is

         20  slightly more complicated. While all new schools

         21  teach Special Education students, we give schools

         22  what we call an optional waiting period, during

         23  which they are not required to accept students who

         24  require self-contained Special Education classes, or

         25  collaborative team-teaching services.
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          2                 We do this to give these new schools

          3  the opportunity to grow in capacity over their first

          4  couple of years, so they are able to serve all

          5  students and more importantly serve them all well.

          6                 Most new schools begin with only one

          7  grade and five or six teachers. They face a host of

          8  complex organizational and instructional challenges.

          9  The Department of Education believes the long-term

         10  interest in quality programming justifies the

         11  short-term investment of time to develop the

         12  programs. As the schools grow, their capacity to

         13  expand services increases, and by year three, all

         14  new small schools must be prepared to serve the full

         15  range of students.

         16                 The Department has heard the growing

         17  demand to build more robust programs earlier to best

         18  serve Special Education students and attract more

         19  English Language Learner students.

         20                 In large part, as a response to this

         21  demand, we have created a new opportunity for 20

         22  schools opening in 2007, to increase their capacity

         23  and develop models of Special Education and ELL

         24  programs. We have begun a grant program to support

         25  new schools that commit to providing collaborative
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          2  team teaching classes each year for their first two

          3  years and enroll about 15 percent Special Education

          4  students.

          5                 This grant provides additional

          6  funding for a full-time CTT teacher and a full-team

          7  leader teacher in Special Education, ongoing

          8  professional development and data support.

          9                 An additional grant will support

         10  schools that commit to enrolling 18 to 25 English

         11  Language Learner students of all levels for their

         12  first year of operations, providing partial funding

         13  for an ESL teacher, ongoing professional

         14  development, and data support. For some schools,

         15  this represents about 25 percent of their

         16  population.

         17                 The Department respects and values

         18  the work of groups throughout the City that advocate

         19  for our students. We have met with many of these

         20  organizations who have a particular focus on special

         21  education students, and English Language Learners,

         22  including the New York Immigration Coalition,

         23  Advocates for Children, New York Lawyers for the

         24  Public Interest, and Parents for Inclusive

         25  Education.

                                                            24

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2                 We continue to have conversations

          3  with these groups to discuss their recommendations

          4  and work together to provide the best opportunities

          5  for all New York City students. Students at all of

          6  our high schools have been making record progress

          7  over the past few years. Our Citywide graduation

          8  rate is up to 58.2 percent in 2005 from 50.8 percent

          9  in 2002.

         10                 That's an increase of 7.4 percentage

         11  points. That's equal to thousands and thousands more

         12  students who are leaving our schools with a real

         13  shot.

         14                 On the opposite end of this spectrum,

         15  far fewer students are dropping out of our schools.

         16  Only 14.8 percent of our students are dropping out

         17  within four years, compared to 20.3 percent when

         18  Mayor Bloomberg was elected. And the percent of our

         19  students passing Regents examinations is up across

         20  the Board.

         21                 Results for students at our new

         22  schools are improving at an even faster clip.

         23                 As my colleague mentioned before, 15

         24  of our new schools graduated their first class last

         25  spring. Our preliminary numbers show that these
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          2  schools graduated an average of 78 percent of their

          3  students. This is more than 20 percent higher than

          4  the Citywide average in 2005, and nearly double that

          5  of the schools they replaced.

          6                 In addition to graduate rates, it is

          7  worth noting that last year ninth graders in new

          8  small schools were promoted to 10th grade, an

          9  indicator of future graduation at a rate of 85

         10  percent, compared to 75 percent Citywide. And all

         11  students, not just general education students are

         12  seeing similar growth at new schools.

         13                 Last year, special education students

         14  in new schools were promoted from 9th to 10th grade

         15  at rates 15 percentage points higher than their

         16  counterparts in other schools Citywide. English

         17  Language Learners were promoted at rates 20

         18  percentage points higher in new schools than their

         19  counterparts in other schools Citywide.

         20                 In closing, on behalf of the Office

         21  of New Schools, we would like to thank you for this

         22  opportunity to testify. The New Schools Initiative

         23  is about addressing the persistent failure of our

         24  under-performing high schools. The fact that many of

         25  our schools are not serving our kids well is not new

                                                            26

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  news. In some cases, New York City high schools have

          3  been failing children for decades. At some schools,

          4  fewer than two in ten entering ninth graders

          5  graduated on time.

          6                 By creating smaller school

          7  structures, we can provide opportunities for

          8  everyone, from teachers and parents to students and

          9  community leaders, to be connected with schools.

         10                 This strategy allows us to reinvent

         11  public education and reshape our children's futures,

         12  and it allows us to encourage community investment

         13  in schools so that our children can benefit from the

         14  additional support and connections.

         15                 We want to acknowledge all of those

         16  who are partnered with our schools, from the Bill

         17  and Melinda Gates Foundation and the Gates

         18  Intermediary Organizations, to Bronx Community

         19  Churches, from 100 Black Men to Brooklyn Cyclones.

         20  They, and many others, have joined in this critical

         21  work.

         22                 Our preliminary results are positive

         23  and we know there is room for us to improve. This

         24  work of transformation is way too difficult for

         25  there not to be mistakes, gaps and challenges along
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          2  the way.

          3                 The Office of New Schools and the

          4  Department of Education remain committed to

          5  addressing those concerns, and to working with

          6  everyone committed to improving education in New

          7  York City for all kids. It is in this spirit that we

          8  look forward to your questions.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, thank you

         10  for your opening statements regarding this

         11  particular subject matter. You have some charts in

         12  back of you, can someone please -- and I'm sorry if

         13  you did already, can you explain the charts behind

         14  you to members of the Committee, if you don't mind?

         15  I believe we have copies in front of us, but can you

         16  walk us through this, and the public through it,

         17  please?

         18                 MR. THOMASES: Sure. I would be happy

         19  to. I am going to start with the one to my right.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Which is the

         21  purple one.

         22                 MR. THOMASES: I'm partially

         23  color-blind, so I'm not going to do the colors.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         25                 MR. THOMASES: But yes, I will exceed
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          2  it's probably purple.

          3                 The one to the right represents the

          4  change in graduation rates, from 2002 through 2005

          5  over the course of the City, throughout the City.

          6                 As Ms. Bernard noted, the graduate

          7  rate has gone up 7.4 percent over those years.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And this is

          9  Citywide graduation rate?

         10                 MR. THOMASES: This is Citywide

         11  graduation rate.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: All high

         13  schools?

         14                 MR. THOMASES: Yes, sir.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         16                 MR. THOMASES: The one in the middle

         17  has three different bars on it. The first bar is the

         18  class of 2002 in the schools, in the phasing out

         19  schools, the schools that were chosen to be phased

         20  out that year, the declared schools, the final

         21  graduation -- not the final graduation rate of their

         22  final graduating class, but the final graduation

         23  rate before they began the phase-out process.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So that was 35

         25  percent overall?
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          2                 MR. THOMASES: That was 35 percent

          3  overall, that's correct, sir.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Overall. All of

          5  the schools that were phasing out that time.

          6                 MR. THOMASES: The schools that were

          7  phasing out at that time, yes, sir.

          8                 The middle bar is the 50 percent

          9  graduation rate equal to the graduation rate

         10  throughout the City, in 2005. The bar on the far

         11  side is the class of 2006. The first graduating

         12  class for the 15 new schools that were opened in

         13  2002, most of whom as we note in our testimony, were

         14  on the same campuses that previously had graduated

         15  about 35 percent, hence that. Nearly double.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So, the last

         17  figure is only for the first 15 small schools --

         18                 MR. THOMASES: That's correct, sir.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:-- That graduated

         20  a class; is that correct?

         21                 MR. THOMASES: That's correct, sir.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Whereas the

         23  second one --

         24                 MR. THOMASES: Is Citywide.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Is Citywide, and
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          2  the first figure of 35 percent of all of the schools

          3  that were being phased out in 2002 --

          4                 MR. THOMASES: That's correct.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: How many schools

          6  is that?

          7                 MR. THOMASES: I don't have that

          8  number off the top of my head. I can look.

          9                 MS. BERNARD: Sixteen.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Sixteen?

         11                 MR. THOMASES: Yes, sir.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So, those were

         13  16 large high schools that were being phased out?

         14                 MR. THOMASES: That's correct, sir.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And the last

         16  year of that phase-out, was that school year

         17  2001/2002?

         18                 MR. THOMASES: I believe so.

         19                 MS. BERNARD: That graduation rate is

         20  for, I believe 2001/2002 is the school year, but

         21  that graduation rate represents the graduation that

         22  year.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. Meaning

         24  June 2002?

         25                 MS. BERNARD: That's correct.
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          2                 MR. THOMASES: That's correct, sir.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Is that correct?

          4                 MS. BERNARD: That's right.

          5                 MR. THOMASES: And it's worth noting

          6  that 12 out of the 15 schools that are counted in

          7  the new schools first graduating class are on the

          8  same campuses as the phase-out schools, hence --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: All of them?

         10                 MR. THOMASES: Twelve out of the 15.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Twelve out of

         12  15.

         13                 MR. THOMASES: That's correct, sir.

         14                 The final chart is a promotion rate.

         15  A promotion rate from ninth to tenth grade is a

         16  major predictor of high school success and

         17  graduation rate, and it gives you the promotion

         18  rate, both for existing schools and for all new

         19  schools, for all students, 75 percent Citywide,

         20  versus 85 percent for new schools.

         21                 For English Language Learners, 67

         22  percent Citywide versus 88 percent in new small

         23  schools. And, finally, for special education

         24  students, 59 percent Citywide, versus 74 percent in

         25  the new small schools.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay, thank you.

          3  And we have copies of the charts in front of us.

          4                 First, let me just say that I need to

          5  say quite clearly that we requested information from

          6  the Department of Education, we sent a letter to

          7  Erin Stevens, the Director of the Office of

          8  Intergovernment Affairs on January 12th, 2007,

          9  requesting information in preparation for this

         10  hearing today. And as you know, as I said in my

         11  opening statement, the hearing was originally

         12  scheduled I think January 25th. And we asked her to

         13  please provide responses to the following questions

         14  no later than January 23rd.

         15                 Well, let me just say that we did not

         16  get the responses to the questions we put forward in

         17  a letter dated January 12th until approximately 7:00

         18  last night, which is totally unacceptable.

         19                 I mean, as the Department of

         20  Education, as the Head of the New Schools Division,

         21  we should have had this information long, long time

         22  ago. In order for us here at the City Council to

         23  carry out our oversight responsibility, we need to

         24  have appropriate responses from the Department of

         25  Education, not 7:00 the night before the hearing.
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          2                 Can you explain to me why it took so

          3  long to get the information?

          4                 MS. BERNARD: We apologize for getting

          5  the information late, and we will coordinate with

          6  the Office of Intergovernmental Affairs.

          7                 I can't tell you why it took until

          8  7:00 last night to get you the information. We had

          9  the information. And, so, we'll coordinate with the

         10  Office of Intergovernmental Affairs to ensure that

         11  we understand why it was so late.

         12                 I mean, I understand that the Office

         13  of Intergovernmental Affairs was also working on

         14  supporting this Committee and on making sure that

         15  information requests, preparations for other

         16  hearings that have been going on through the last

         17  month, and even this week, I know that that's part

         18  of why the office in general was probably delayed.

         19  But we will go back and we will look, and we

         20  apologize and ensure that we provide timely

         21  responses when asked questions.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, let me

         23  just say to you that the oversight hearings are

         24  nothing new. We've been doing this for years and

         25  years and years, and knowing that when there are
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          2  oversight hearings, that there are going to be

          3  questions that are going to be put forward to the

          4  Department of Education, and responses expected,

          5  this is nothing new, as far as from a process point

          6  of view, and an apology, I've heard a lot of

          7  apologies over the last two weeks, and apologizes

          8  are only words. We want to see action with respects

          9  to appropriate timely responses.

         10                 So, let me just say to you, you may

         11  want to apologize for the Department of Education

         12  and other offices, but I do not accept that apology.

         13  I clearly do not accept it because this is now

         14  February 16th and the letter went to the Department

         15  of Education dated January 12th. So, please

         16  communicate to the Chancellor the apology is not

         17  accepted. And what I do want is timely responses so

         18  that this Committee can prepare appropriate

         19  questions based on the responses that we are

         20  expected to receive.

         21                 MR. THOMASES: Yes, sir.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Let me turn to

         23  my colleagues to ask questions first. My colleague

         24  Council Member John Liu of Queens.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you very
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          2  much, Mr. Chairman, for holding this hearing. I want

          3  to thank the officials from the Department of

          4  Education for joining us. I do want to echo the

          5  disappointment voiced by the Chairman for

          6  continuously delayed responses to questions that we

          7  pose to the Department of Education for the purpose

          8  of conducting these hearings.

          9                 Mr. Chairman, I have a number of

         10  questions but in deference to your "round robin"

         11  rule, I will ask just one set of related questions;

         12  and that is --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: That's okay,

         14  we'll come back to you on a second round.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: All right. One

         16  question, I might have to have follow-ups on your

         17  answers, my question for you is how has the

         18  Department of Education assessed the impact of these

         19  new small schools on existing schools?

         20                 MR. THOMASES: I'm going to infer, and

         21  correct me if I'm wrong, my inference is that the

         22  concern particularly is around number of seats and

         23  impact on other schools, in terms of overcrowding;

         24  is that correct, sir?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Well, if Mr.
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          2  Chairman will allow me to clarify the question, it

          3  has to do with the impact on the existing schools

          4  that are in the same building as the new schools are

          5  thrust into, as well as possibly nearby schools and

          6  other schools, because the creation of these new

          7  schools clearly have an impact on existing schools,

          8  whether they be in the same building or not.

          9                 As much as the Department of

         10  Education touts the success of these small schools,

         11  which I think remains to be seen, and as much as the

         12  Mayor and the Chancellor love to get up and announce

         13  all these great new schools that are being created,

         14  who is determining the impact on the existing

         15  schools, whether they be in the same building or in

         16  the neighborhood nearby, or elsewhere across the

         17  City?

         18                 MR. THOMASES: A couple of things in

         19  an attempt to answer that question. First, I would

         20  note that, again, up-to-date the New Schools process

         21  has produced 11,000 more high school seats in the

         22  City, and will continue -- and that will grow as the

         23  schools grow to capacity.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: How do you get

         25  that?
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          2                 MR. THOMASES: By identifying, as we

          3  said in our testimony, by identifying leases spaces,

          4  underutilized spaces, and reinvigorating spaces that

          5  were not being used, old shops and those kinds of--

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: So, presumably,

          7  those 11,000 seats, a seat is a physical space?

          8                 MR. THOMASES: That's correct.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: The 11,000 seats

         10  would be in schools, in spaces that were not already

         11  being used as schools?

         12                 MR. THOMASES: And also obviously in

         13  the schools that had been phased out or closed, yes,

         14  sir.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: That's not

         16  creating a new seat.

         17                 MR. THOMASES: Right.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: For example, if

         19  Seaward Park High School is closed down and you

         20  replace Seward Park High School with four schools in

         21  the same building, are you counting that in the

         22  11,000?

         23                 MS. BERNARD: If I could help?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Sure.

         25                 MS. BERNARD: The 11,000 number, and
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          2  we can provide, following this hearing we can

          3  provide a more detailed, more detailed information

          4  about sort of where that 11,000 is from?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: I'm just asking

          6  you a simple question.

          7                 MS. BERNARD: Absolutely. The 11,000

          8  is the net gain in seats. So, it's a combination of

          9  both. When we phase out a school, we are losing

         10  seats, ninth grade seats, for example, right? So,

         11  for instance, next September, when we don't accept

         12  ninth graders into schools that we've designated as

         13  being phased out, we're losing those seats, but in

         14  the creation of small schools in those buildings,

         15  and in other buildings that could be, this is across

         16  the last four years, I believe, in the creation of

         17  new facilities, in the creation of schools within

         18  existing facilities, the net gain has been 11,000

         19  throughout the City.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Well, thank you,

         21  Mr. Bernard. And I'm trying to be very gentle here,

         22  okay? And Ms. Bernard, I do have a lot of respect

         23  for the work that you've done because creating these

         24  schools, I mean, that is no easy task. Now, when you

         25  say, you take the net of the additional students
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          2  versus the students that were phased out because

          3  that school was closed, again, we can focus on

          4  Seward Park directly, but it applies to all the

          5  other schools, that's not the same as seats.

          6                 When we say student enrollment, and I

          7  think this is what you're talking about, student

          8  enrollment, at the school that was closed down

          9  versus student enrollment at the new schools that

         10  open up. That's not the same as saying seats.

         11                 For example, if Seward Park was for

         12  some reason under 100 percent capacity, say it was

         13  at 80 percent capacity, and you close that down and

         14  you stick four new schools, small schools in that

         15  same building, and that building is now 90 percent

         16  capacity, you're counting the additional ten percent

         17  of the capacity being filled in the building as new

         18  seats. Well, that's an obfuscation of the numbers.

         19  That's just a numbers game. That doesn't create new

         20  school seats.

         21                 Creating a new school seats means

         22  either you build a new building that can house 400

         23  students or 1,200 students, or you find an old

         24  factory and retrofit it into classroom space. That

         25  is creating new seats.
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          2                 To talk about net gains in

          3  enrollment, that is not the way to count things, and

          4  that is an obfuscation that leads us to question the

          5  credibility of all of this stuff that you're saying

          6  about the small schools.

          7                 Let's move onto the next item; how

          8  else are you assessing the impact of these small

          9  schools on the existing schools?

         10                 Like, for example, graduation rates,

         11  how do you assess that?

         12                 MR. THOMASES: We have not fully

         13  assessed it. I do want to say one other thing, sir

         14  --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Why do you have

         16  that chart up there then?

         17                 MR. THOMASES: So --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Again, this is

         19  about obfuscation. It's getting us the information

         20  last minute, and expecting us to just swallow what

         21  you give us, give us real information so we can

         22  determine what, in fact, is happening so that we can

         23  respond properly to our constituents.

         24                 MR. THOMASES: Councilman Liu, I will

         25  be happy to provide you with the specific data that
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          2  we were just referring to about how we got to the

          3  11,000 seat number. I do beg to differ, I don't

          4  think it's an obfuscation. I do think that we have

          5  figured out to produce additional seats.

          6                 You are correct, in a perfect world

          7  where we had additional resources, we would love to

          8  always just simply build new schools, and take

          9  factories and turn them into new schools. There are

         10  limits in the capital funds.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: We understand

         12  that there are limits in the capital funds. We

         13  understand that. It's not the easiest thing from a

         14  budgetary point of view, as well as a community

         15  point of view to build new schools, but don't come

         16  here and say that we're having all these new school

         17  seats when in fact they are not being created.

         18                 Now, you know, I'd like to focus on

         19  that graduation rates are up across the City. It

         20  sounds great; is that actually happening? What

         21  percentage of the students in New York City public

         22  schools are enrolled in small schools?

         23                 MR. THOMASES: Sixteen percent.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Sixteen percent.

         25                 MR. THOMASES: That's right, sir.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay. And what

          3  about the total number of graduates coming from

          4  small schools?

          5                 MR. THOMASES: Well, at this point,

          6  we've only had graduating classes from the schools

          7  that were open in 2002, and that obviously early

          8  small schools that were open, I don't have the

          9  percentage off the top of my head. Given that it's

         10  only 15 schools, I think we could agree that it's

         11  relatively small to date, since most of our schools

         12  haven't had their first graduating class.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: And that display

         14  behind you suggests that, you know, we're having a

         15  hearing about small schools, and you're talking

         16  about how the small schools have increased

         17  graduation rates and you have that seven and a half

         18  percent number there.

         19                 Why do we have that thing up there? I

         20  don't see any relevance.

         21                 MR. THOMASES: Because we felt like it

         22  was worth nothing, since one of the concerns around

         23  the small schools movement is, as you raised, is the

         24  concern around is it hurting the other schools, and

         25  we thought that it was worth nothing that as small
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          2  schools have moved in and have grown up, that the

          3  graduation rate throughout the City has actually

          4  gone up, due to other initiatives and the work

          5  throughout the City. So that we thought that was a

          6  critical thing to note.

          7                 MS. BERNARD: And from our

          8  perspective, we thought it was important to note

          9  that the New Schools' strategy is just one component

         10  of the overall goal of Children First, to increase

         11  graduation rates. So that chart is more about the

         12  efforts of the Department to increase over all

         13  graduation rates, and we wanted to show that.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Sure, and we

         15  wanted to say, and we want to congratulate all of

         16  you and the Chancellor for increasing graduation

         17  rates, that, if in fact that has happened, and we

         18  will examine those statistics again. Again, there

         19  are lots of numbers games being played here at the

         20  Department of Education. I would submit to you that

         21  that chart has really no relevance for this hearing

         22  and doesn't even belong behind you right now. And it

         23  could very well be that if not for the small

         24  schools, maybe those graduation rates would have

         25  been up ten percent, because that thing just has no
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          2  relevance whatsoever.

          3                 MS. BERNARD: With all due respect,

          4  the last thing that I would say in pointing out some

          5  of the information on the other part, as well, in

          6  talking about assessment and impact of the creation

          7  of new schools on other schools, again, if we just

          8  focus on the first bar of the schools that phased

          9  out that were announced to begin phase out in 2002

         10  and we look at the last bar, in terms of the first

         11  set of schools that we had with graduation rates

         12  this past year, when you look specifically at those

         13  two sets of numbers, and look at the schools that we

         14  announced in 2002 that begin to phase out, and you

         15  look at those 16 campuses, I believe, those 16

         16  buildings that had graduation rates on average of 35

         17  percent, and you look at the new schools that, the

         18  majority of them are created in those school

         19  buildings, 12 of those schools, that had graduation

         20  rates last year, were in 12 of those school

         21  buildings, and we look at 78. I mean, we could

         22  debate the numbers, but from our perspective, when

         23  you look at 78 percent graduation rate preliminary

         24  of schools that used to have on average 35 percent

         25  graduation rates in those same buildings, I think
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          2  that's a positive impact in terms of the creation of

          3  new schools specifically and turning around

          4  under-performing buildings throughout the City.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Right. And Ms.

          6  Bernard, I appreciate that, but with all due

          7  respect, we are not talking about graduation rates

          8  or performance measures for buildings. Because the

          9  reality is that a lot of these schools are being

         10  closed down. Those students are being sent

         11  elsewhere, and the new schools that are being

         12  created and put into those same buildings are new

         13  and different student populations.

         14                 If, in fact, most of the -- say again

         15  at Seaward Park High School, if, in fact, most of

         16  the students who are formally enrolled at Seaward

         17  Park High School were now enrolled in any of the

         18  four new schools that replaced old Seaward School,

         19  being in the same building, then I would buy your

         20  argument. Your argument would be absolutely correct.

         21                 The problem is that not many of them

         22  are remaining in the same building, so you're not

         23  tracking those same students. Those same students

         24  may still be failing, just at a different school,

         25  not in the same building.
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          2                 MS. BERNARD: And with all due

          3  respect, Councilman Liu, again, I think we just

          4  differ. From our perspective, the numbers do show

          5  that the students that are going to our new schools,

          6  especially the ones going into our phase-out

          7  schools, actually resemble closely the kinds of

          8  students that were attending schools that began to

          9  phase out.

         10                 In fact, the numbers, the percentages

         11  of African-American and Latino and low-performing

         12  students that's based on eighth grade level 1 and

         13  level 2 ELA and math scores show that our new

         14  schools are taking larger percentage of

         15  African-American and Latinos, and larger percentages

         16  of students who are struggling in eighth grade math

         17  and ELA than Citywide averages. So from our

         18  perspective, we feel pretty strongly, and quite

         19  frankly, we feel good about the fact that our new

         20  schools, especially in our phase-out campuses, are

         21  serving populations most in need and populations

         22  that quite frankly, schools that have been

         23  designated to phase out were not performing, were

         24  not serving well.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: All right, thank
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          2  you, Mr. Bernard. I will take you at face value for

          3  that. And it would be helpful to see some of the

          4  statistics involved. Thank you.

          5                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Before I move on

          7  to Melinda Katz, let me just ask the question that

          8  came to my mind with respect to Council Member John

          9  Liu.

         10                 Concerning the Seaward Park High

         11  School situation, I think John said, and correct me

         12  if I'm wrong, you closed out that school and put

         13  four new schools, small schools in that school; what

         14  was the capacity of Seaward Park as a school? And,

         15  you know, did the capacity, not the utilization when

         16  it would close down, but the capacity of the school,

         17  and did you, for example, if the utilization rate

         18  was 75 to 80 percent or 90 percent, did you include,

         19  if you pumped it up to the capacity of the schools,

         20  those seats as new seats in the 11,000 seats?

         21                 MR. THOMASES: Just to be very

         22  specific, the seats that are counted in the net gain

         23  of seats, are seats that the Office of Student

         24  Enrollment is utilizing to place students in.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I understand
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          2  that. I understand. But my question is only this: Do

          3  you know what the utilization rate of Seaward Park

          4  High School was before it closed down?

          5                 MS. BERNARD: We could provide you

          6  that information. We could provide you with the

          7  level of detail. We don't have that.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Let's assume it

          9  was 80 percent. Let's assume there was 300 seats not

         10  being utilized at the time it phased out. And now

         11  you put four new schools in there, and you phase it

         12  in every year, that's what you do?

         13                 MR. THOMASES: Yes, sir.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And now let's

         15  say that 100 percent utilization, okay? With those

         16  additional 300 seats.

         17                 MR. THOMASES: Those would be

         18  considered new seats.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Are you

         20  considering those 300 seats as new seats in the

         21  11,000 seats? That's what my question is.

         22                 MR. THOMASES: Yes. So, just to be --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I'm sorry, the

         24  answer is yes?

         25                 MR. THOMASES: Let me make sure I
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          2  understand it. Let's say there were 1,000 students

          3  at Seaward Park and after the new four schools went

          4  in there, there are 1,200 students. Then those 200

          5  addition students would be part of the net gain.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: But even though

          7  the capacity, seating capacity was 1,200?

          8                 MR. THOMASES: That's correct, sir.

          9  Because part of what we're looking at is, if I may?

         10  Part of what we're looking at especially with the

         11  new high school enrollment process, is the issue of

         12  demand. And where the students don't want to attend

         13  the school anymore, then creating effective options

         14  is part of that.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I agree with

         16  you, if students don't want to attend the school

         17  creating effective options are clearly appropriate,

         18  and John was talking about this, but if the capacity

         19  of the school is 1,200, and let's assume there was

         20  only 1,000 in there and then after you phase in four

         21  schools there is now 1,200, in essence 100 percent

         22  utilization, and you include those 200 seats as part

         23  of the 11,000 new seats, those are not new seats.

         24  And that's what John was saying. Those are not new

         25  seats. Those are seats that were there but were not
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          2  being utilized appropriately, and that's the

          3  difference.

          4                 MR. THOMASES: Okay, sir.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And, so, we

          6  would like to know, of the 11,000 new seats that you

          7  claim as a result of the new school, how many of

          8  those 11,000 were in schools that were underutilized

          9  and were not new seats but are being considered by

         10  you as new seats, okay?

         11                 MS. BERNARD: We'll follow up to

         12  provide that information.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Mr. Chairman,

         14  very quickly, I bring that up not as an issue on its

         15  own, but as an example of the obfuscation that all

         16  these numbers creates.

         17                 We're not being told the truth about

         18  exactly what is happening, not only with these small

         19  schools, but throughout the Department of Education,

         20  because these statistics, this is not the only

         21  misleading statistic that the Department has put

         22  out, and we're going to have to look very closely at

         23  all of this data that's being given us at the last

         24  minute, and in fact is not reflective of what's

         25  happening in reality.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

          3                 I'm sorry, sir, also when you give us

          4  that response, can you tell us, of these 11,000 new

          5  seats, how many are those in new buildings, and how

          6  many are in, for example, as John said, factories

          7  that have been rehabbed to build a small school?

          8                 MR. THOMASES: And as well as they're

          9  in what we call underutilized sites, like the East

         10  West School.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay, thank you.

         12                 Council Member Melinda Katz of Queens

         13  is next.

         14                 I'm sorry, I forgot to introduce my

         15  colleague Oliver Koppell, directly in front of me,

         16  of the Bronx, has joined us earlier.

         17                 Melinda Katz.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Mr. Chairman,

         19  just as a follow-up, my understanding of those 37

         20  new schools, is all of them are within other

         21  structures already existing in schools, none of them

         22  are new school sites. Is that wrong?

         23                 MS. BERNARD: One is a new school site

         24  in the Bronx. There is one new construction going on

         25  in the Bronx.

                                                            52

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: So, 36 of these

          3  new schools are within other existing structures,

          4  there are already schools, so that's the answer to

          5  Council Member Jackson's question, which is that

          6  only one out of the 37 are in new sites.

          7                 MS. BERNARD: If he's asking

          8  specifically around the new schools for September. I

          9  thought you wanted a broader information getting at

         10  the --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: The 11,000.

         12                 MS. BERNARD: That's what I thought.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Okay.

         14                 MS. BERNARD: And so 11,000 across the

         15  initiative.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Across the

         17  board.

         18                 MS. BERNARD: Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I just want to

         20  tag onto what Council Member Jackson said in his

         21  opening statement. To a certain extent I feel like

         22  you two are here as Abraham's last-minute switch,

         23  like there is no way that the Department of

         24  Education sent you to us for this issue and didn't

         25  realize that there would be a reaction by this
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          2  Council exactly the way it's been. And that's

          3  because, as Council Member Jackson said, in the last

          4  two weeks we have heard apology after apology after

          5  it shouldn't have been this way, we should have

          6  spoken to you, we should have done this, we should

          7  have gone to the community, we should have talked to

          8  the parents, we should have done and we didn't, and

          9  it becomes a very frustrating situation for the

         10  Council members who are elected to represent our

         11  individual districts, and I will go so far as to say

         12  that there are very few people in the City of New

         13  York that know our districts as well as we do, and

         14  that includes the Department of Education.

         15                 Now, I want my colleagues to know

         16  I've met with Jemina and Josh over the last two

         17  years several times regarding a school in my

         18  district, that is being put inside another school,

         19  Halsey Junior High School. The questions that I've

         20  had for them is exactly how do you choose the sites?

         21  What happens?

         22                 So, the question I'd like for you to

         23  tell my colleagues, if you can, and I know you can,

         24  because you did it for me, is exactly how these

         25  sites are chosen. Now, my understanding is there are
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          2  two levels of information that are needed: one is

          3  whether a school site is needed for that particular

          4  type of school that we're putting in, and the other

          5  is where it will go, and I think it's important for

          6  you, and if you can do it quickly, and I know that

          7  it's difficult to do quickly, that would be helpful.

          8  So, I think, though, you should talk about along the

          9  way are you talking to parents? Are you talking to

         10  the CEC? Are you talking to the community in which

         11  the school will be housed? Are we talking to the

         12  Council members along the way, and when does

         13  notification happen from there?

         14                 The second thing I'd like to know is,

         15  sort of what Council Member Liu alluded to, which is

         16  that if small schools are supposed to be 25 kids or

         17  less, I think in the classroom? How many kids in a

         18  classroom for small schools?

         19                 MR. THOMASES: I think we generally

         20  target about 27.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Twenty-seven,

         22  kids, yet overcrowding of schools was one of the

         23  number one issues of this Administration. So, my

         24  biggest fear, as you and I spoke about yesterday, is

         25  you're creating these new schools, we're creating
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          2  these small schools, we're creating charter schools,

          3  and we're leaving the rest of the kids out there to

          4  triage. And especially in our districts, we have

          5  locally zoned schools still - regular, good old

          6  fashioned, I'm walking to the corner and going to

          7  school schools. I want to make sure that these new

          8  schools are not going to be 27 kids and my other

          9  classrooms are still 35 kids a classroom. So, if you

         10  can answer really the method by which you go about

         11  doing this, I would appreciate it.

         12                 MS. BERNARD: Sure. So, why don't I

         13  start by trying to give an overview of the site

         14  identification and approval process as quickly and

         15  succinctly as I can.

         16                 First, I should indicate that we go

         17  along two tracks, and so Josh and I are sort of

         18  responsible for coming together at the end. My team,

         19  the Operations Team, is responsible for working with

         20  various internal and external constituents around

         21  identifying potential sites, and I'll quickly walk

         22  you through that process, and that process typically

         23  takes about a year. It's a long process to identify

         24  potential sites where we might be able to place new

         25  schools in.
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          2                 Josh's team, the academics team, is

          3  responsible for running the new school development

          4  process that identifies the potentially strong

          5  proposals that we would want to approve and we would

          6  want to site. There are two separate processes that

          7  come sort of together at the end so that my team

          8  identifies, my team working with Kathleen Grimm's

          9  office and the School Construction Authority,

         10  identifies the potential supply of capital, and

         11  Josh's team, the Academic Team, Academic Team

         12  identifies the potential demand for that capital

         13  from an Office of New Schools' perspective.

         14                 So, to walk you quickly through the

         15  capital supply perspective, typically what happens

         16  is over the spring and summer, once we get through

         17  the new school approval processes, we're still in

         18  the midst of it right now, typically over the spring

         19  and the summer, we begin the process to work

         20  internally to start identifying where there might be

         21  potential sites. So, that's a combination of

         22  identifying, working with the SCA to identify where

         23  new construction might be coming on line in a future

         24  year, and as I said, to my knowledge, from a New

         25  Schools' perspective, there is only one potential
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          2  site identified as such for September 2007 in the

          3  Bronx.

          4                 So then the other big piece is,

          5  working to see from our perspective, where there

          6  might be underutilized buildings, where we might be

          7  able to take advantage of space to place new

          8  schools.

          9                 That process, there's a long

         10  internal, sort of what we call a paper review

         11  process, that requires us to look at utilization,

         12  Blue Book information, enrollment, projected

         13  enrollment, room reports from the SCA, a lot of

         14  different reports and data that we try to

         15  consolidate to begin to identify across the City

         16  where there might be potential to house a new school

         17  in the short term and the long term. From our

         18  perspective, because we phase in schools

         19  year-by-year, it's always in our best interest to

         20  find a site that could actually house it for the

         21  long term, so we're looking for roughly, if we're

         22  talking about a 432-seat high school that would grow

         23  in over time, we do that process to identify where

         24  there might be sites that could house that kind of

         25  seat need.
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          2                 So, that process starts off in the

          3  spring and the summer, and internally we don't get

          4  to a point until, quite frankly, late fall, early

          5  winter where we have developed a short list of

          6  potential sites then to further vet with

          7  superintendents, other facilities people, community

          8  people, elected officials, those kinds of things.

          9  Largely because of changes that might impact those

         10  numbers and statistics due to actual enrollment,

         11  updated utilization and Blue Book information,

         12  before we start serving sites we need to obviously

         13  use as much updated information as possible. So,

         14  this year, for example, that process generated on

         15  paper probably about 100 sites throughout the City.

         16                 The next step, once we would have

         17  done that and sort of had that list of 100, which we

         18  have typically some time in November, is to begin

         19  working with regional superintendents, community

         20  superintendents, local instructional

         21  superintendents, to review that on paper and get

         22  their input as to whether it makes sense to start

         23  physically serving some of the sites.

         24                 That process of working with

         25  superintendents to generate an even shorter list,
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          2  quite frankly, takes us to about late December,

          3  early January, and so it's an iterative process, as

          4  you can imagine, and so in that we're beginning to

          5  do some initial site visits, and so numbers of sites

          6  just begin to fall off the list, right? Because once

          7  you actually go and survey a site, you see it's just

          8  not going to work even though on paper it might

          9  work.

         10                 So that process coincides with the

         11  New School Development process, by which

         12  applications are submitted on December 1st and

         13  there's a rigorous process that my colleague could

         14  go into with regards to getting to a point where we

         15  know the potential supply of new schools.

         16                 To your question around whether, when

         17  or whether we engage elected officials, for

         18  instance, on the potential for sites, until --

         19  because of the challenge of trying to map, you know,

         20  upwards of 50 quality new school proposals, for

         21  example, across the various needs throughout the

         22  City, we do a level of work with the regional

         23  superintendents and the local superintendents who

         24  often have similar demands for the kinds of new

         25  schools that they might want in their communities as
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          2  well, so we do a level of work internally to try to

          3  map out where the best matches might be, such that,

          4  quite frankly, it isn't until towards the end when

          5  we know our new school approvals that we know where

          6  a school might actually be sited.

          7                 So, what we've tried to do this year,

          8  from an engagement perspective, is unlike in past

          9  years where the Office of New Schools has announced

         10  all its schools in one fell swoop and the site that

         11  it would go in, we purposely decided to do it in a

         12  couple of ways to allow for a level of engagement

         13  before we announced sites publicly.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I'm going to --

         15                 MR. THOMASES: I'm going to jump in

         16  and add one other additional --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Just to that,

         18  because I'm actually going to revoke my question to

         19  you --

         20                 MR. THOMASES: Okay.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: -- Because quite

         22  honestly, I'm more concerned at this moment on how

         23  the sites were selected and the involvement of the

         24  community.

         25                 MR. THOMASES: I was going to speak to
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          2  that, if I may, for just a second.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Go ahead.

          4                 MR. THOMASES: Which is just to say

          5  that as the school proposals are coming forward,

          6  many of them are coming forward with local community

          7  support and begin to suggest to us that they only

          8  belong in a particular part of the City. So, I'm

          9  going to use examples from prior years. Councilman

         10  Recchia actually supported close to nine proposals

         11  over the course of several years, Council Member Liu

         12  supported the East West School for International

         13  Studies last year, and as part of that support for

         14  schools, we then also need to acknowledge that those

         15  particular schools can only go in particular parts

         16  of the City. It doesn't make sense to site a school

         17  partnered with the Brooklyn Cyclones in the North

         18  Bronx, I think that probably belongs in Coney

         19  Island, and similar with the East West School, it

         20  made sense to figure out how to get it into the

         21  community. So that then becomes another part of the

         22  puzzle.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Okay, I don't

         24  know what the circumstances were with Councilman Liu

         25  and Councilman Recchia supporting the sites, but I
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          2  guess out of 11,000 students that you've added in

          3  all the new school sites, if you have two Council

          4  members that were supportive at some point, that's

          5  not great odds, but I guess they're decent odds,

          6  depending on how much money you want to make in the

          7  end, but they're not great odds.

          8                 But I guess my real point is that,

          9  you are basically in this process for a year before

         10  the community is spoken to. That's basically what it

         11  is. It's about a year after you've made some final

         12  decisions and you've talked internally. So, I am

         13  now, Mr. Chairman, making a formal request as a

         14  member of this Committee, that when potential sites

         15  are found, Mr. Chairman is now with Councilman Liu,

         16  when sites are first proposed, potential sites, that

         17  the Council member whose district is representing

         18  that area be given those potential sites.

         19                 Understanding that it may or may not

         20  pan out, but the Council Members deserve to know

         21  when you're talking about or looking at our sites,

         22  and I will make one final comment, which is I'm

         23  Chair of the Land Use Committee, and my colleagues

         24  should understand, that out of 36 out of 37 of these

         25  new schools are being put in existing structures, we
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          2  are taken out of the process. That's the point. We

          3  don't get to vote on it because they're not school

          4  sitings. So, just keep that in mind, and that's why

          5  I would suggest that when you're putting a school

          6  inside another school, where we don't get a chance

          7  to vote on it, that we at least know the potential

          8  of it coming down the pike.

          9                 I thank you.

         10                 MS. BERNARD: It's a fair request. And

         11  the other thing that I would love to mention is,

         12  because the New School Development process actually

         13  starts, and is a different process from the siting

         14  process, I would encourage, and we will reiterate

         15  once we know what the next round of the open house

         16  is, we would welcome the opportunity to work with

         17  community stakeholders and elected officials to

         18  begin the process earlier to understand the kinds of

         19  schools that you all would like to see in your

         20  community, so we can, as the planning process for

         21  new schools happens, we can work together to

         22  identify the kinds of schools that ultimately you

         23  might want to site in your communities.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: You might want

         25  to check with your bosses first before you make that
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          2  offer. I'm just saying, it's a great offer. We

          3  accept.

          4                 MR. THOMASES: It was part of the

          5  offer last year.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: It was part of

          7  the offer last year but it never happened.

          8                 MS. BERNARD: We did invite elected

          9  officials to the September open house, which is

         10  where we would have kicked off the new school

         11  approval process. So, we're happy to resend that as

         12  a reminder, but as soon as we have this year's

         13  process, we absolutely will make the same offer and

         14  --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: No, no. I don't

         16  want an offer to come in September. I am an elected

         17  official representing my district, I want, when the

         18  Department of Education is talking about putting a

         19  500- to 1,000-seat junior high school, a high school

         20  in my district, I would like a phone call from a

         21  staff member, from anyone, from the Chancellor

         22  himself, if that's what it takes, to me or to my

         23  staff, telling me that this is a possibility. I

         24  appreciate a yearly meeting, and I know you're

         25  saying what is out there and I get it, but it needs
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          2  more than that.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you,

          4  Council Member Katz.

          5                 Council Member Vacca.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Yes, hello. I

          7  do want to comment on this argument of big schools

          8  versus small schools. I think the jury is still out

          9  on the small school issue, because I haven't seen as

         10  many evaluations as I would like to see.

         11                 I have to tell you that I think it

         12  boils down to leadership. I think you have a school

         13  that functions, whether it's small or big, based on

         14  the leadership you have there, and I think that

         15  that's probably something our City needs to come to

         16  grips with.

         17                 I attended a high school in the

         18  Bronx, which was then known as Christopher Columbus

         19  High School, it's now being phased out into I don't

         20  know what, I lost track, but it had 4,600 students

         21  and I was on double session, the school performed

         22  and the school was safe.

         23                 The issues here are that parents are

         24  electing out of schools where they feel their

         25  children are not safe. Safety is key. And in the

                                                            66

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  Bronx at this point, my understanding is we only

          3  have three schools that have not been disbanded -

          4  Clinton, Truman and Lehman. And everything else is

          5  disbanded into small schools, and I cannot tell you

          6  the impact on those three remaining schools when the

          7  small schools were created.

          8                 You know, I go back to what a

          9  certificate of occupancy means for a building.

         10                 When I look at a school like Lehman,

         11  and I go into the computer at the Buildings

         12  Department and I see a certificate of occupancy for

         13  3,600 people, and the school has 7,000, any other

         14  building like that would be padlocked and vacated by

         15  the City of New York.

         16                 Yet, it's allowed to continue with

         17  4,400 students from Lehman, 300 students from one

         18  small school, 300 students from another small

         19  school, and when you add staff, you have 7,000

         20  people.

         21                 My concern also is academics. When we

         22  are putting small schools together, number one we

         23  put them into big schools, as I just gave an

         24  example, or we put them in separate facilities. I

         25  have small schools in trailers and portables, small
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          2  high schools in trailers and portables. The children

          3  there don't have the technology labs, the science

          4  labs, they do not have the school auditorium, the

          5  school gymnasium, they don't have the traditional

          6  services that a high school has.

          7                 So, my questions are, what are we

          8  doing relative to making sure students get what they

          9  need in the small high schools, and what are we

         10  doing to have these big high schools that we still

         11  have left become smaller?

         12                 I go back to the zoned high school;

         13  is there such a thing as a zoned high school

         14  anymore? Do we intend to get buildings down to 100

         15  percent of capacity rather than these astronomical

         16  figures that we are now facing.

         17                 We had a comment yesterday from the

         18  Speaker, and I have to echo it. I think many people

         19  feel it, that our intermediate schools are failing,

         20  and I have to say that the impetus for high school

         21  choice, be it small schools or into different bigger

         22  schools, is because our high schools have been

         23  failing for a long time, too. When we look at that

         24  reality, small, big, I come back to my point that

         25  safety is key, and I come back to my point that it's
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          2  leadership that drives the engine of a successful

          3  school big or small.

          4                 I'd like your comment.

          5                 MR. THOMASES: Thank you. I think

          6  certainly we can agree on the importance of safety,

          7  the importance of leadership. We'd offer just a

          8  couple of thoughts. Certainly hard to argue that the

          9  jury is in completely on the small school

         10  initiative, with only 15 schools having graduating

         11  classes. However, initial data from a West Ed Report

         12  that was just released about a month ago, suggests

         13  significant successes. Additionally, there has been

         14  other research that's done over the last couple of

         15  months from a group called Parthenon on looking at

         16  the impacts of large numbers of students coming in

         17  struggling, and the impact on large schools. One of

         18  the things that comes out of that report is that

         19  there are certain structures when you have large

         20  number of students entering the high school at

         21  significantly low levels of performance that the

         22  ability to have a small team of teachers responsible

         23  for a manageable number of students and to keep

         24  track of those students is likely to ensure success.

         25                 It's not fair, and I said this at
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          2  several of the open houses on the campuses over the

          3  last couple of months, it's not a reasonable

          4  expectation to ask a teacher to work with 175

          5  students, 80 percent of who are coming in reading

          6  and doing math significantly below grade level, ask

          7  a math teacher to work with 175 students, when he or

          8  she can't even talk to the English teacher about

          9  what the English teacher is doing, because those 175

         10  students have seven other English teachers.

         11                 So, to answer your question, sir, I

         12  would tell you that there are small school

         13  structures that allow teachers, guidance counselors,

         14  principals, paras, school aids, parents, community

         15  to work more effectively and keeping track of

         16  students.

         17                 Now, does that mean that there isn't

         18  a place in the portfolio for large schools? Of

         19  course not. This is not about transforming every

         20  large school in the City in the small schools. This

         21  is about identifying where there is persistent and

         22  ongoing academic failure over the course of decades,

         23  and figuring out a structure that allows everybody

         24  in those schools to be more successful. And to allow

         25  those strong teachers and those strong folks who
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          2  have been committed to work in those schools to be

          3  successful with those same students.

          4                 On the issue of overcrowding, I just

          5  wanted to note, and we will obviously get the data

          6  because I don't want to go back to the debate to the

          7  11,000, but to note that part of the way we're

          8  thinking about this is trying to create additional

          9  seats.

         10                 The irony is that the small school

         11  initiative happened in the midst of a buggle in

         12  enrollment in high schools. High school enrollment

         13  Citywide went up by about 15- to 16,000, so it

         14  doesn't feel like we created more seats, because

         15  there's more students in high school. The reality is

         16  that we would begin to look at enrollment patterns

         17  coming in in the middle schools, because enrollment

         18  is going to begin to drop throughout New York City

         19  in the high schools. The bubble is easing and that's

         20  going to begin to ease the overcrowding and will

         21  begin to see the results of the number of seats

         22  we've created. I won't debate the exact number at

         23  this point. So, I think it's worth noting that as

         24  well.

         25                 The impact on the large schools is of
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          2  serious concern. And as we've thought about,

          3  particularly given the three of the schools we're

          4  phasing out are large campuses in Brooklyn, we've

          5  thought very purposely about making sure that the

          6  students coming into the -- the students that would

          7  have gone to those three schools have options and

          8  access without impacting the large high schools, New

          9  Uttrecht, Madison and the other large high schools

         10  that are around. And that's true just so that we get

         11  it on the record from the front, that's true from

         12  the general education students, the students

         13  requiring special education services and for the

         14  English Language Learners, and it made sure that

         15  those students will have options without impacting

         16  the large high schools.

         17                 I believe I've tried to answer all

         18  your questions, but if I missed one, please let me

         19  know.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: You've not

         21  addressed the issue of whether or not you review a

         22  certificate of occupancy for a high school when you

         23  almost double the size beyond what the Buildings

         24  Department allows; are we concerned with capacity,

         25  fire issues? When we have an issue like this, this
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          2  would not be tolerated in the private sector, and

          3  we're talking about kids here and teachers in a

          4  building double what the C of O indicates.

          5                 MS. BERNARD: To answer your question

          6  directly, we don't personally review the C of O, but

          7  we work closely with facilities staff and with the

          8  School Construction Authority in making final

          9  decisions about where new schools will be cited to

         10  determine (a) whether or not it's feasible to put in

         11  a new school, (b) to figure out the right

         12  configuration within a certain building to ensure

         13  that the needs of all the students in the building,

         14  irrespective of how many schools might be in that

         15  building are being met.

         16                 We also work very, very closely with

         17  a lot of stakeholders at the school level to where

         18  there are concerns, where there are issues, to

         19  ensure that we're addressing those issues as they're

         20  coming to our attention, and doing our very best to

         21  problem solve where there are problems.

         22                 As we mentioned, you know, putting in

         23  these new schools and creating these options and

         24  opportunities for students throughout the City,

         25  students and families throughout the City, is not
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          2  easy work. And so we recognize that they're bumped

          3  along the way and that we're going to make mistakes

          4  in some cases and so that we need to work together.

          5  And quite frankly, I appreciate the work that we do

          6  and directly together, Councilman Vacca, on Lehman

          7  specifically. So, when we got a call around your

          8  concerns around the safety issues at Lehman, we

          9  organized a huge meeting as you know at Lehman with

         10  all the relevant stakeholders to truly problem

         11  solve, to understand what the problems were and to

         12  truly problem solve, and I think that, you know,

         13  that was an effective meeting and look forward to

         14  ongoing meetings with all of the members where there

         15  are specific issues, specific concerns that we need

         16  to work together to address.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Jemina, I thank

         18  you for your sincerity.

         19                 My last quick question is this:

         20  Middle schools -- and this is page four of your

         21  testimony, Ms. Bernard, first paragraph: "Middle

         22  schools enroll students through regional enrollment

         23  processes. Although beginning next year there will

         24  be one process to govern all of middle school

         25  enrollment as well..." What are we in store for?
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          2                 MS. BERNARD: I wouldn't even begin to

          3  try to answer a question that would be better

          4  answered by our office of student enrollment. But

          5  basically, as was announced at the beginning of this

          6  school year, I believe, we're in the process of

          7  moving in the same way that we did with the high

          8  school enrollment process over the last few years,

          9  we're in the process of trying to coordinate and

         10  reconcile all of those areas in the middle school

         11  enrollment processes that exist throughout the City

         12  into one central process so that parents and

         13  students, quite frankly, can understand more clearly

         14  how you enroll in middle schools throughout this

         15  City. Because as it is right now, for instance, we

         16  certainly could not answer for you, and certainly

         17  you all probably know much better than we do, what

         18  the middle school enrollment policies are within

         19  your specific district. But when we get questions

         20  centrally, for instance, on what the middle school

         21  enrollment procedures are for a District 11 versus

         22  District 21, for instance, they can be very, very

         23  different, and it's difficult to answer --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: But by and

         25  large middle schools are zoned. By and large middle
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          2  schools, unlike high schools which have changed

          3  since the reforms of 2002, but middle schools are

          4  zoned, so that would be within that context?

          5                 MS. BERNARD: Elementary and middle

          6  schools are zoned, so students have rights to

          7  certain schools within their area, it's just

          8  different rules apply.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Right.

         10                 MS. BERNARD: So, in some districts

         11  there's district-wide choice, in some areas there's

         12  region-wide choice, and so it's really about

         13  reconciling the various choices and options

         14  available --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: But now that

         16  we're eliminating the regions, what do we do?

         17                 MS. BERNARD: That's part of why we

         18  have to reconcile all of that and I understand that.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Is that being

         20  fleshed out?

         21                 MS. BERNARD: Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: There is so

         23  much to be fleshed out with all this thing with the

         24  regions, no regions and going back to the four big

         25  shots that they're going to have --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you,

          3  Council member.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: It's five now?

          5  All right. Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

          7                 Council Member Peter Vallone, Jr., of

          8  Queens.

          9                 I forgot to introduce, I'm sorry, Dr.

         10  Kendall Stewart, in front to my right. Dr. Kendall

         11  Stewart of Brooklyn. So, Peter Vallone, Jr.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you.

         13  Imagine how long you'd be here if we were not just

         14  asking one question each?

         15                 Jimmy Vacca, I just want to say I

         16  associate myself with his remarks when it comes to

         17  safety in schools, when it comes to overcrowding, my

         18  high schools are double capacity, and I think that

         19  your knowledge and focus on safety in schools have

         20  been a huge improvement to this Committee, and to

         21  the Council in general, but asking our fourth or

         22  fifth question, you did just take mine, which was on

         23  enrollment.

         24                 I have two kids in junior high

         25  school, and you know, just having gone through the
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          2  enrollment process, and it's easy to oversee a

          3  37,000 police force than it is to figure out that

          4  enrollment process, and I was going to go through

          5  that but Jimmy just did. So, let me just say that

          6  first of all I support your initiative, the one

          7  you're speaking on today, smaller schools is the way

          8  to go. And I think you're doing an excellent job. I

          9  have, as I said, two daughters in junior high

         10  school. We here have to focus on the problems.

         11  That's our job, is oversight, but there are some

         12  huge success stories out there and I think you're

         13  doing a great job.

         14                 When it comes to junior high schools,

         15  and I've spoken to Joel Klein about this, I happen

         16  to support not having them. I like K through 8 and I

         17  think the Chancellor has mentioned that he is going

         18  to move in that direction, it keeps kids younger

         19  longer, as opposed to many other benefits I think it

         20  has, and just the fact that junior high schools are

         21  doing worse than every other school and every

         22  measurable statistic, it's a reason we should move

         23  back I think, and I think that the Commissioner is

         24  moving in that direction.

         25                 Jese, you know, like I said, having
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          2  my question taken at the last second doesn't give me

          3  a chance on enrollment to come up with another one,

          4  so I will in the interest of time move on, but I

          5  just want to thank you for your testimony today, and

          6  for the work you're doing.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I apologize, I

          8  know that I communicated to my colleagues, I'm going

          9  to ask you to please stick to the one question round

         10  robin, please. And Peter Vallone, Jr., we'll come

         11  back to you when you look at the questions.

         12                 Council Member Maria del Carmen

         13  Arroyo of the Bronx.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Thank you, Mr.

         15  Chair, and I don't follow rules since nobody else

         16  has.

         17                 I agree with Peter, I think that the

         18  small school concept is a great way to go and there

         19  are many in my district in the Bronx in particular.

         20                 I am, however, concerned because

         21  you're here saying this is the way to go, and the

         22  Administration obviously supports it, but the

         23  partner organizations tied to these schools are

         24  coming to the City Council for funding, to continue

         25  to do the work that they're doing with the schools.
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          2  That, to me, is a contradiction, and why are you, or

          3  the Administration not baselining the funding that

          4  these partner organizations need to do the work that

          5  they have to do.

          6                 We moved an initiative for the City

          7  Council for 2007. We needed a million, I think we

          8  ended up with half a million. There's a whole host

          9  of schools coming up this year where there are

         10  community partners funding is ending. This is a

         11  contradiction, and what commitment does the

         12  Administration have to support these community

         13  partners that are working really, really hard to

         14  make this school environment what they are, and not

         15  have to become part of that budget dance that the

         16  Council and the Administration always engage in.

         17                 MR. THOMASES: It's honestly a very

         18  important question and a very difficult question,

         19  because ultimately the resources, the resources

         20  provided by the Gates Foundation were for four-year

         21  start-up grants, and the hope and the commitment of

         22  the Department has been to work with those

         23  organizations and work with the Gates intermediary

         24  partners around identifying additional resources to

         25  allow organizations to continue to work with

                                                            80

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  schools.

          3                 Now, I understand that that actually

          4  doesn't answer your question fully, it doesn't say

          5  that the Department is prepared to fund those

          6  organizations. The hope is and the commitment and

          7  the vision of this work was, as I'm sure you're

          8  fully aware, was a way to identify external

          9  resources and figure out how to bring those

         10  resources and supports into schools, so that a youth

         11  development organization might have a grant to run a

         12  particular program for X number of students, might

         13  use that grant to work directly with a school, and

         14  part of what we've said to organizations, rather

         15  than working with thousands of students and touching

         16  their lives a little bit, help make sure a smaller

         17  group of students graduates and to make that

         18  argument to funders. And in many cases that's been

         19  successful. On the other hand, and you are correct,

         20  that in not all cases, and that's the truth.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: But the point

         22  is that there has to be a commitment from the

         23  Department and the Administration to support

         24  financially these organizations so they can continue

         25  to do the work that they're doing. They're doing
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          2  phenomenal work, and the recipe is just there. It's

          3  just something that is a no-brainer. And since we're

          4  talking about additional funding for schools and all

          5  of the work that Robert Jackson and the Campaign for

          6  Fiscal Equity must include a commitment financially

          7  to these organizations so that we don't have to

          8  engage in that tangle that we do every year to make

          9  sure that they get the funding that they deserve.

         10                 MR. THOMASES: And the additional

         11  point I would make is part of the work has been to

         12  date, in terms of figuring out how to drive

         13  additional funding into schools is to give schools

         14  the opportunities to use that money, so that they

         15  don't have to make a choice between an extra teacher

         16  and working with an organization, but they have

         17  enough dollars to pay for their teachers, and then

         18  have additional dollars to support.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Line item for

         20  support for the partner organizations is what we

         21  need to see in the budget.

         22                 One question. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

         24                 We'll go back to Council Member Peter

         25  Vallone, Jr., of Queens.
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          2                 Then Simcha Felder is next.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Just a quick

          4  question then. First of all, I'm color-blind, too,

          5  Josh, and I have a huge problem with your charts

          6  behind you, but it's the fact that you used all

          7  blues and greens, which are the two colors I can't

          8  distinguish between.

          9                 MR. THOMASES: I'm red/green, so...

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: In the

         11  information you gave us 7:00 last night, you say

         12  that 186 of the 197 schools share a space with other

         13  schools. That's as of now. Of the 36 new schools

         14  being opened in 2007, 25 will share space, one is a

         15  stand alone. The remaining eight are still being

         16  finalized. As Councilman Vacca said, we've got a

         17  huge overcrowding problem. Of those remaining eight,

         18  when you said they'll be finalized, do you expect to

         19  finalize them in other schools as stand-alone

         20  facilities? Do you have any idea? Because I would

         21  hate to move away from the stand-alones, even fewer

         22  stand-alones than we have in the past.

         23                 MS. BERNARD: Sure. The majority of

         24  them are in shared space of the remaining eight. I

         25  believe, and I can provide the details following the
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          2  hearing, but I believe we have a couple of transfer

          3  schools that we still need to site and those may be

          4  in stand-alone facilities.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: And I'd just

          6  like to recommend that we find as many alternative

          7  sites. And one of the things about smaller schools

          8  is they are easier to site. Everyone wants a high

          9  school, no one wants it next to them. So, it might

         10  be easier to get these high schools sited than the

         11  big schools. Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

         13                 Council Member Simcha Felder of

         14  Brooklyn.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Thank you very

         16  much. One comment and no statement. No questions.

         17                 First of all, it's pretty

         18  entertaining to me, because you mention about

         19  submitted last night, I don't have -- that's like

         20  bad enough, but the funny thing to me is, that it's

         21  dated February 12th, so either it took them three

         22  days to get it from the Department of Education,

         23  around the corner, over to you, which I guess due to

         24  the major snow storm that the Mayor talked about

         25  took such a long time, or somebody dated it, you
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          2  know, I want to believe that somebody predated it,

          3  so I'm just curious, if at some point you can give

          4  me some information about which one of those two is

          5  correct, I'd appreciate it.

          6                 I am in favor of some of the programs

          7  you talk about, school choice. The smallest schools,

          8  charter schools, I know some of my colleagues are

          9  opposed to it, but anything that improves

         10  competition I think is good for the children. But

         11  the one issue that you talk about, you know, what

         12  comes first, you have schools that are 50 percent

         13  capacity, in some neighborhoods, including mine,

         14  some parts of my district have schools that are at

         15  very low capacity. Somebody may say that's very

         16  creative innovation, that you go ahead, you create

         17  smaller schools that concentrate in specific areas

         18  like criminal justice or others, and thereby you

         19  create the demand of children living very far away

         20  to be willing to travel to somewhere else to go to

         21  school. And I don't want to debate that here. We're

         22  debating that privately. But I would just say, I

         23  repeat the same thing that I said almost at the

         24  hearing regarding the space, which is this is in

         25  part what it's about, is that in those areas where
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          2  it's clear that enrollment will continue to decline,

          3  there are neighborhoods throughout the City that

          4  that is the case, whether it's their private school,

          5  parochial schools, other schools, it's just that's

          6  not going to change. Fifty years from now the

          7  capacity will be the same, enrollment will be even

          8  lower. You will have to create more and more of

          9  these small schools. I don't understand, you know,

         10  we talked over and over about the possibility of

         11  getting people who are interested in purchasing

         12  these properties now with the condition that they

         13  would not take the properties for five years, ten

         14  years, whatever you need. You talked about the lack

         15  of money, there are developers that are willing to

         16  take the chance of buying properties at this time,

         17  in areas where there is underutilization, the City

         18  would get the money, be able to take the money and

         19  build schools where demand is high, and at some

         20  future date, we're not going to sacrifice the needs

         21  of the children, but if you know that this is what's

         22  going on, I don't understand the game of

         23  continuously trying to fill spaces in areas where

         24  you know that they're just going to decline and

         25  decline and I don't know why this isn't something
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          2  that you're willing to look into.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Any comment?

          4                 MR. THOMASES: As the Council member

          5  said, we've been in conversation with him over the

          6  last several weeks around the school, so no

          7  additional comments.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

          9                 Council Member Oliver Koppell of the

         10  Bronx.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you,

         12  Chairman.

         13                 In line with your injunction I'll

         14  make a brief statement, and then one question.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: That's good.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: The statement

         17  is first of all, as a general matter I think the

         18  small school initiative has been a positive

         19  influence in my district.

         20                 One point, at the Walton School which

         21  is being phased out and four schools substituted, I

         22  think that's worked well. And what worked

         23  particularly well is Walton Complex still has an

         24  identity. And I think that's important for kids. I

         25  think it also allows for certain teams to still be
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          2  joint, and where the small schools are hard to field

          3  teams, they can now field teams, in looking at it

          4  almost like a university campus. I provided money to

          5  do the same thing at Kennedy and we have a Kennedy

          6  branding project underway, and I would encourage you

          7  to do that at every school around the City where

          8  they want it, because I think it creates identity,

          9  it helps prevent conflict and competition between

         10  the schools that are all in the same building. So, I

         11  strongly -- I think the schools have worked well

         12  where they've been, and you've been smart enough to

         13  listen after a lot of yelling and screaming and not

         14  doing it at Clinton where they didn't want it, and

         15  Clinton is working well as a big school.

         16                 So, it sort of supports what Jimmy

         17  Vacca said, that you can have big schools at work,

         18  and small schools that work.

         19                 That's my comment, now my sort of

         20  comment/question. We created, when I was President

         21  of District 10, two middle school high schools, the

         22  Riverdale Kingsbridge Academy and the Intake

         23  Academy. They go middle school into high school.

         24  They've both been successful. Indeed I would have to

         25  say extremely successful. And it goes against the
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          2  biggest problem we have, which is the middle school

          3  problem. So, while I'm sympathetic about what Peter

          4  had to say K through 8, I think this model, the one

          5  that we created with, what is it, six through 12,

          6  really works very well, at least it's worked well in

          7  the two cases where we created it in my district.

          8  And I want to encourage you to do that.

          9                 I mean, another place that I think,

         10  just a school that's been a terrible failure, 143 in

         11  my area, you could make 143 into a middle school

         12  high school, which would have some theme or

         13  something, you know, nobody wants to go to 143, it's

         14  the saddest thing. No kids want to go there, no

         15  parents want to send their kids there, and it used

         16  to be a really nice school, in my memory. So, again,

         17  what about -- that's my question, are you creating

         18  more middle school, high schools, and is that not a

         19  model that ought to be at least attempted in other

         20  places.

         21                 MR. THOMASES: Thank you for your

         22  comments. First, your early ones around Walton and

         23  Kennedy helped answer some of the Chairman's

         24  questions around elected, around elective classes

         25  and extra curricular activity. So, I just want to
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          2  acknowledge that that's a core part of the strategy

          3  is what you articulate I think certainly better than

          4  I could around how do you address the fact that a

          5  particular small school with a focus on X might not

          6  be able to offer Y.

          7                 I think that that's, particularly on

          8  the campuses, that's a key way that we solve that

          9  problem.

         10                 So, the six to 12 question, I

         11  couldn't agree with you more. A significant number

         12  of our schools that we've opened are six to 12ths,

         13  the younger leadership school in Councilman

         14  Vallone's district is a six to 12. I mean, we can go

         15  through all the districts of folks here, but we are

         16  opening where it makes sense, where the proposals

         17  that have come out are for middle schools/high

         18  schools, and where we can identify space that allows

         19  us to do it. It makes for somewhat of a larger

         20  school, instead of about 430, you're talking about

         21  570, which places some constraints in terms of

         22  siting. But where those schools have come forward

         23  with strong, coherent, thoughtful proposals, we have

         24  certainly supported them. I don't have an exact

         25  number, but a significant proportion of the schools
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          2  in the last couple of years have been six to 12s.

          3                 MS. BERNARD: And to add to Josh's

          4  comments, 52 of the schools that we've opened to

          5  date are six through 12s, I believe, and of the ones

          6  we're opening this September, 12 are six through

          7  12s.

          8                 I do want to add, though, to both

          9  Council Member Vallone, and your questions and your

         10  support of the K to 8 model and the six to 12 model,

         11  as Josh mentioned, we fully support that and part of

         12  the challenge in terms of engaging multiple

         13  stakeholders is that we hear strong support for that

         14  from some areas, and then when we engage parents in

         15  communities, we also hear the opposite ends of the

         16  spectrum, because, of course, some people don't want

         17  11 year olds in the same building with 18 year olds,

         18  so we really have to balance the needs and what we

         19  hear in various communities.

         20                 The other piece of it is the reality

         21  of facilities challenges in that.

         22                 So, to the extent that the

         23  facilities, both the creation and under-utilized

         24  facilities allow for the creation of six through 12

         25  and the K through 8, certainly we would love to work
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          2  together some more to create more of those.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Mr. Chairman,

          4  I'm delighted that our wisdom of five or six years

          5  ago has been ratified.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I'm happy also,

          7  if it means progress for our students.

          8                 Next we'll hear from Dr. Kendall

          9  Stewart of Brooklyn.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you,

         11  Mr. Chair.

         12                 Good morning. I want to go back over

         13  a couple of things. Why is it we're afraid to say

         14  when we move from big schools to small schools, is

         15  that we are really increasing the funding per

         16  student? We are really creating better control, and

         17  also by extension safety, and also maximum

         18  utilization of the space. Why is it that we are

         19  afraid to say that so that the critics who are

         20  making the statements will understand this; can you

         21  comment on that? Why wasn't that said all along?

         22                 MR. THOMASES: I don't think we meant

         23  to be afraid to say it. I think all three are

         24  totally true. It is about in a City that's

         25  overcrowded, where there are underutilized spaces
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          2  and rooms available maximizing that.

          3                 I think the key criticism around the

          4  funding gets to this myth that small schools are

          5  more expensive, and so one of the things that we

          6  tried to focus on in making the arguments is that

          7  when you begin to look at a pro-graduate cost, small

          8  schools are not more expensive, and since the goal

          9  is not to house students, but to actually graduate

         10  them, small schools aren't more expensive and that's

         11  sort of the way we make that argument, so that it

         12  doesn't become about dollars and cents for simply

         13  seating students, but it's about graduating them.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: The other

         15  question -- well, it's not a question, ELLs, I

         16  notice the Mayor made a statement that he wants to

         17  fund the school per student, I think another part of

         18  that formula should be income of the parents should

         19  play a role in that. And, so, these schools that are

         20  very poor should have at least the income of the

         21  parents to play a role in the formula to fund those

         22  schools. Those schools that are large and they're

         23  successful, if you check to see the funding for

         24  those schools per student, they're way, way above

         25  those schools that are failing. And, so, if you use
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          2  that formula, I think you'll be going along far

          3  places.

          4                 MR. THOMASES: I agree with you. I

          5  don't have the press release. We didn't come

          6  equipped to talk about fair student funding.

          7                 I believe that the Mayor and the

          8  Chancellor's press release spoke specifically to

          9  looking at poverty levels, part of the funding

         10  formula.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: The last

         12  question, Mr. Chair, is that -- I'm trying to follow

         13  --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Can I come back

         15  to you? Let me take the first round, please. If you

         16  don't mind, please?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: All right.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

         19  Domenic Recchia of Brooklyn.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Yes, good

         21  morning. First, I just want to -- don't ask one

         22  question, but I have two questions, I'll abide by

         23  the rules.

         24                 First I want to say in my district

         25  that the conversion to small schools is going well,
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          2  and I have to thank you for reaching out and working

          3  with my community, having meetings and, I have my

          4  little committee that we wrote proposals, you know,

          5  and we were in there from the beginning, and it is

          6  hard, but with the charts, what I'm gaining from the

          7  charts is that what you know so far about these new

          8  small schools, that they're positive, okay? Is that

          9  correct?

         10                 MR. THOMASES: Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: My question

         12  is this: The middle schools is very important to my

         13  community, and we're one of those areas where the

         14  middle schools application process is very

         15  complicated, and what I would, and you're working on

         16  this whole new system, what I think has to happen

         17  here, and it's a big problem, obviously, with a lot

         18  of my colleagues, is that I believe that you should

         19  call in the Education Committee of the City Council

         20  and have the meeting with us so we can discuss the

         21  issue of the middle school reform package, and we

         22  could add our recommendations to you. Is that

         23  possible?

         24                 Because I think that's one where we

         25  could have dialogue.
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          2                 MS. BERNARD: Absolutely. We will take

          3  that back and it's a great suggestion, and I trust

          4  that we would be interested in having that dialogue.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Okay, Mr.

          6  Chairman. I think we should follow that up.

          7                 Can I just say one other thing, Mr.

          8  Chairman?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Sure, go ahead,

         10  please.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: My children

         12  go to public schools, and I just want to make a

         13  comment here that my daughter came home with a

         14  letter the other day, all three of them did, stating

         15  to all parents that the Chancellor is taking the

         16  parents' comment on line about the new reforms and

         17  fair -- I don't want to say fair pricing and fair

         18  distribution of dollars per child, and you could

         19  voice your concerns on line. And I think that all

         20  parents should definitely go on line and voice their

         21  opinion in what they have to say. You have until

         22  February 28th. And if anybody needs more, I could

         23  give you a copy of the letter that was sent home

         24  with my daughters.

         25                 Mr. Chairman, that's very important.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. Let me

          3  just ask some questions quickly. According to

          4  information on the DOE's website, and on flyers

          5  announcing new high schools, information fairs,

          6  students who attend a fair or information session

          7  receive a quote/unquote admissions priority; can you

          8  explain the reason why and behind this admissions

          9  priority and how it works? And isn't such an

         10  admissions priority discriminatory?

         11                 MS. BERNARD: That is the informed

         12  choice policy around enrollment for new schools that

         13  I described in the testimony. So, the reason for

         14  that is really to allow, to make sure that students,

         15  when applying to a new school, are actually aware

         16  of, since, as you know, most of our new schools have

         17  themes and specific focuses, so it's really to make

         18  sure that the students and the families have done a

         19  level of work to understand what that theme is so

         20  that a student that applies to a school that might

         21  have an art and music focus is in fact interested in

         22  going to school with art and music focus.

         23                 I should also mention though, the

         24  leaders of those new schools, the principals of

         25  those new schools, have an opportunity to flag
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          2  students who have expressed that informed choice, to

          3  the extent that there are additional seats in a new

          4  school that kids are interested in and they did not

          5  indicate -- they didn't indicate informed choice,

          6  there's still an opportunity to go to those schools.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Yes, but you

          8  also indicate in your statement that as long as

          9  students get information from various sources, not

         10  necessarily attending that fair. They can get

         11  information from the school advisor or counselor,

         12  but that doesn't indicate what you say here, which

         13  is that the children have to attend the fair in

         14  order to get special consideration.

         15                 MS. BERNARD: If I said that, then I

         16  misspoke. That's not what I meant to say. Students

         17  can show informed choice by multiple ways.

         18  Attendants at a high school fair is just one way.

         19  They can attend an open house, at the school.

         20  There's various ways that they can do it.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Do you know what

         22  your website says?

         23                 MS. BERNARD: Does it just say high

         24  school fair?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: It says
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          2  "information fairs." Quote/unquote information

          3  fairs.

          4                 MR. THOMASES: And only that?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I'm not

          6  absolutely sure.

          7                 MS. BERNARD: So, we will look back at

          8  that, and if it says that --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: But considering

         10  the fact that, you know, that everyone may not be as

         11  savvy and up-to-date as far as, you know, getting

         12  information, why are we giving special preferences

         13  to people who attend the fair versus, you know,

         14  allowing everyone the same opportunity to compete if

         15  you wanted to say it?

         16                 MR. THOMASES: First it's worth saying

         17  that everybody does have that opportunity. We held

         18  --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: But they don't

         20  if you're giving preference to people who attend the

         21  fair; isn't that correct?

         22                 If someone has a preference, let's

         23  say five points because you're a veteran. Then you

         24  have an advantage over those that do not have that

         25  preference; in that scenario I gave you; isn't that
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          2  correct?

          3                 MR. THOMASES: Right. But I don't know

          4  that that applies to the admissions process.

          5                 If a principal were to go, let's say

          6  a representative from a new school were to go to a

          7  middle school to meet with middle school students

          8  who were not satisfied with their high school

          9  choices, and many of our new school principals are

         10  going out to the schools in the communities in which

         11  they might serve, that would serve equally as an

         12  opportunity.

         13                 There are a multitude of

         14  opportunities. It's also worth noting that over

         15  3,000 people attended the fairs that we did hold in

         16  the communities over the last several weeks.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: What is the

         18  priority that's given to students who attend a fair

         19  or information session? What priority is given --

         20                 MR. THOMASES: The only measure of

         21  entrance to a new small school is evidence of what's

         22  called informed choice. It's simply that there is

         23  some evidence that the school knows that you

         24  actually know what the school is about. There is no

         25  other priority. Basically on the ranking system, as
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          2  a principal you can either rank that you've met a

          3  student, either through the fair or going through a

          4  middle school or other open houses that many of the

          5  partners are holding, or any other opportunity that

          6  you said I met the student, I met the family and

          7  that they know the school. That's the only ranking,

          8  you basically can rank only a one, I met the

          9  student, or zero, I haven't.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Because the

         11  principal in the school has an opportunity to say

         12  they want the student or they don't want the

         13  student; isn't that correct?

         14                 MS. BERNARD: It's to --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: No, I'm asking.

         16  Answer the question first.

         17                 MS. BERNARD: All principals in the

         18  system, all principals of high schools have an

         19  opportunity to rank students who are interested in

         20  their schools. So the opportunity for principals

         21  through the high school admissions process, to rank

         22  students that they would prefer to get into their

         23  schools, is something that happened across all

         24  schools in the system.

         25                 This process just affords principals
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          2  of small schools to the same way that any high

          3  school principal can rank any student that applies

          4  to their school with regard to their preferences for

          5  a student going to their school. This is just

          6  another mechanism for a new school principal to

          7  specify a preference for students who have, in fact,

          8  demonstrated informed choice that the Office of

          9  School Enrollment is responsible for making the

         10  matches in the same way that they make the matches

         11  for all schools in the system, in terms of where

         12  students have applied, and where principals

         13  throughout the system have expressed an interest,

         14  have expressed an interest or preference for those

         15  students.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And what if a

         17  family needs translation services? What kind of

         18  translation services are provided at these fairs?

         19                 MS. BERNARD: First of all, the

         20  information that was distributed around the actual

         21  fairs themselves was provided in all eight languages

         22  that the Department is required to provide

         23  information in, both in the written form, and we

         24  also provided, we did phone calls, automated phone

         25  calls to all families of eighth grade students
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          2  throughout the City based on their home language, so

          3  that Spanish speaking families, for instance, of an

          4  eighth grade student would have received an

          5  automated phone call from our office indicating

          6  there was a high school fair coming up in Spanish,

          7  and then at the actual fairs themselves that we

          8  organize centrally with the Office of Student

          9  Enrollment, we made sure we had interpretation

         10  services available in all top languages, in all

         11  eight languages.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: In all eight

         13  languages?

         14                 MS. BERNARD: That's right.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I've heard what

         16  you said about the ELL and Special Education

         17  students in your opening statements, but what I'm

         18  hearing is that although you may not have a formal

         19  policy, because you said that every student is

         20  admitted no matter what, that you may not have a

         21  formal policy of excluding such students, in effect

         22  especially for Special Ed students, this is really

         23  what's happening. And we hear it from the advocates,

         24  and you ask me who do I believe? I believe the

         25  advocates. Because if, in fact, that wasn't
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          2  happening, they would not be harping on this. What's

          3  your comment on that? From a practical point of

          4  view?

          5                 MR. THOMASES: I would say a couple of

          6  things. First of all, we're equally concerned about

          7  the issues the advocates have raised and take those

          8  concerns very seriously, as we identify schools, if

          9  there are schools that aren't serving those

         10  students.

         11                 However, all schools immediately

         12  serve what are called students requiring SETS

         13  Services.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: They're what?

         15                 MR. THOMASES: Special Education

         16  Teacher Support Services, which is one particular

         17  group of students. As part of our practice, as Ms.

         18  Bernard said in her testimony, schools are given the

         19  option in the first two years to not work with

         20  students requiring special class or collaborative

         21  team teaching services.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And they're

         23  excluded the first two years?

         24                 MR. THOMASES: Right. To your point

         25  and to the concerns raised by the advocates, we are
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          2  offering this year a grant, a special education

          3  grant, two new small schools to support the building

          4  of the capacity to work with those students

          5  immediately, and a significant proportion of the

          6  high schools that are opening this year, we'll be

          7  accepting those students in their very first year,

          8  in part directly out of concern for the issues that

          9  were raised by the advocates, and to my point that

         10  we're as concerned as you are by that and want to

         11  make sure that the schools are serving students from

         12  the very beginning.

         13                 The logic is to make sure that the

         14  principal and a small group of teachers have the

         15  opportunity to invent a more effective way of

         16  working with students. This isn't just simply about

         17  providing seats, but providing effective educational

         18  services, and our statistics are suggesting that we

         19  are becoming more effective in that.

         20                 It's also worth nothing that all the

         21  schools, year three and beyond, serve all students

         22  and at the same percentages as the Citywide average.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Yes, but you

         24  said some of these new schools are going to get

         25  special grants in order to be inclusive of ELL and
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          2  Special Need students from the beginning.

          3                 MR. THOMASES: To support the

          4  development effective programs for those students.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: To support an

          6  effective development of a program?

          7                 MR. THOMASES: That's correct, sir.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: How much money

          9  is this special grant? And is it going to be a

         10  continuous grant, or is it going to be a one-shot

         11  deal?

         12                 MR. THOMASES: It's a two-year grant

         13  of about, depending on whether it's for English

         14  Language Learners, Special Education students, about

         15  $40,000, and it's specifically designed to make sure

         16  that a school that is working with a larger

         17  percentage of the students, as Ms. Bernard

         18  mentioned, 16 percent or 25 percent, which is higher

         19  than the Citywide average, that a school that takes

         20  that on has additional resources. So, beyond say a

         21  collaborative team teaching teacher, will have a

         22  lead teacher in Special Education to work with all

         23  the teachers in the school to figure out how to work

         24  with students more effectively.

         25                 So, the school that has the higher
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          2  percentage than a Citywide average, about 16 percent

          3  of students requiring special services, that that

          4  school would build capacity quickly to do that.

          5  That's the logic of it.

          6                 MS. BERNARD: Just to add to that,

          7  though, this grant is on top of the funds that would

          8  already go to that school given the number of

          9  students at that school.

         10                 So, for instance with the ELL grant,

         11  for instance, if you have 25 percent of your

         12  population, through the various funding streams that

         13  go to support the needs of our ELL students, the

         14  school would get its regular funds associated with

         15  that number of students to provide the services,

         16  plus grant money to provide additional supports.

         17                 MR. THOMASES: And it is only a

         18  capacity-building grant. The expectation is schools

         19  funded themselves after the third year.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And that special

         21  grant, basically is that to purchase basically

         22  another teacher, basically?

         23                 MR. THOMASES: Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Only for two

         25  years. And then after that they're on their own?
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          2                 MR. THOMASES: Well, the logic is

          3  first of all, from an equity perspective, obviously

          4  we want all schools to serve all students after

          5  three years and that they will have enough funding.

          6  It's a particular challenge of the budget of a brand

          7  new school, principal, half dozen teachers, a school

          8  aid, maybe one paraprofessional and a school

          9  secretary and then some guidance support. It's a

         10  very small team to work even with 100 students, 108

         11  students. So, this is about how do you help that

         12  group of educators figure out how to do this work of

         13  working with special education students, students

         14  requiring those services more effectively than the

         15  models that have been used in the past; and the

         16  logic is that if you can work with them early and

         17  develop it effectively, it will build the capacity

         18  of that school to do it much more effectively than

         19  the models that we looked at historically.

         20                 The idea is that we do that for the

         21  first couple of years and then the school will be

         22  able to fund it on its own.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: How many schools

         24  are you funding this coming year?

         25                 MR. THOMASES: Ten of each.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And what about

          3  all of the schools that have already been in

          4  existence? Are you going to give them any help if

          5  they want to ratch up (sic)?

          6                 MR. THOMASES: Well, part of the

          7  support that Office of New Schools gives in

          8  partnership with the leadership academy is every

          9  principal in a new small school, and in fact, every

         10  new principal in the system gets a coach through the

         11  New York City Leadership Academy, and that for the

         12  new schools, which is the point of this hearing,

         13  those coaches work directly with the principals on

         14  building their capacities in their schools across

         15  the system.

         16                 And we also work closely with the

         17  partner organizations that are working with schools

         18  around building that capacity.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: But if I'm a

         20  principal of an existing school or a brand new

         21  school, are you going to give me a grant of $40,000

         22  to hire a new teacher and to be able to take these

         23  students in quickly and to build up my programs

         24  quickly, but I know within two years I'm not going

         25  to have that money, and even though a coach is
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          2  automatically given, but for existing schools, if

          3  you're not going to give me any new money, in order

          4  to hire new staff, in order to help my students, and

          5  especially when I'm being held accountable for the

          6  progress of my students, I'm not going to take that

          7  type of risk because I don't want my statistics to

          8  be lower than anyone else, because I may be

          9  considered not up to par with everyone else.

         10                 MR. THOMASES: Well, a couple of

         11  things that we're saying, one is --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Would you agree

         13  with that assessment?

         14                 MR. THOMASES: Well, first of all, the

         15  schools take the students that are sensitive, and

         16  it's worth saying that very clearly.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, not

         18  necessarily so, because you have to match up. They

         19  have to say yes also; isn't that correct?

         20                 MR. THOMASES: Right. But as we look

         21  at the Citywide averages, after the third year, the

         22  small schools are serving equal to the Citywide

         23  averages or above in English Language Learners and

         24  Special Education students.

         25                 The second thing worth saying is that
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          2  there are some economies of scale. To give a

          3  specific example, the coaching dollars in a new

          4  school pays for a half coach for mathematics and a

          5  half coach for English and by the time the school

          6  ages up, the dollars then increase to allow them to

          7  purchase a full coach in both.

          8                 So, there's something that happens as

          9  the school goes from a half dozen teachers to a

         10  dozen to about 18 to 20 teachers that allows for a

         11  level of capacity building and allows for a level of

         12  effective support that is honestly difficult in the

         13  very first year.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: We've heard a

         15  lot about the high school emissions process and how

         16  it's confusing for parents and students, especially

         17  if a student needs Special Education or English

         18  Language Learner services.

         19                 If I'm a parent and my child needs

         20  Special Education or ELL services, how do I find out

         21  which high schools offer these type of services? Do

         22  I have to go through the high school directory and

         23  look at each school and figure it out myself? Or is

         24  there a central location where you have this listed,

         25  all of the schools that offer these type of
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          2  programs?

          3                 MS. BERNARD: So, I'll answer that a

          4  couple of ways. First, in the directory, yes, is one

          5  vehicle to do that. Another vehicle is I believe --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Tell me how I do

          7  it. The manual is this big, this thick, right? How

          8  thick is it? It's thick. Walk me through.

          9                 MS. BERNARD: Sure.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Walk me through,

         11  I'm a parent. I'm an ELL parent, you know, or I'm a

         12  parent with special needs, how am I going to -- do I

         13  have to literally go through the entire book in

         14  order to try and determine that?

         15                 MS. BERNARD: I'm not going to venture

         16  to, because the Office of Student Enrollment manages

         17  the high school process, as well as the directory,

         18  I'm going to give you what I believe is the process,

         19  but I think it's important that we follow up and

         20  confirm what the process is once we have an

         21  opportunity to talk to that office specifically.

         22                 My understanding is that certainly on

         23  every, the directory, that thick book, is organized

         24  by borough and then there is a page for each

         25  specific high school, and I know that each specific
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          2  page provides information on the specific services

          3  that are available.

          4                 I believe, I believe, but I'm not 100

          5  percent sure and I need to double check with the

          6  right office, I believe that the front, in the

          7  directory there is also information about that.

          8                 Parents can also go on line to get

          9  the same information and certainly parents can talk

         10  to guidance counselors at their schools. Parent

         11  coordinators at their schools can certainly call

         12  3-1-1 and call our central office of student

         13  enrollment.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: What percentage

         15  of high school students are English Language

         16  Learners, or children with special needs?

         17                 MS. BERNARD: That's a Citywide

         18  question and I don't know the answer to that.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Does anybody of

         20  your staff know?

         21                 MS. BERNARD: That's a Citywide

         22  question and we can provide you that information,

         23  but we don't have it.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, let me

         25  just ask you, would it be appropriate to, when you
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          2  put out the next year's directory, to have a listing

          3  just under special education or English Language

          4  Learners in there with the cross reference to all of

          5  the schools rather than a parent have to work his

          6  way through an entire booklet?

          7                 MS. BERNARD: As I said, I don't know

          8  how the book is organized, but we will go back and

          9  talk to the Office of Student Enrollment and talk

         10  about it.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. About the

         12  information you have in the new directory for small

         13  high schools; is what you have in that directory

         14  sufficient for me as a parent to figure out if that

         15  school provides all of the services that my child

         16  needs? I'm talking about in your directory of new

         17  small high schools; is all of the information

         18  contained in there?

         19                 One of the things that the report on

         20  Special Education students and small schools mention

         21  is that you can't tell from the information in your

         22  directory what type of self-contained programs are

         23  offered in the school, or you can only tell that the

         24  school offers self-contained programs, but not the

         25  specific programs.
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          2                 MR. THOMASES: To some degree I think

          3  you just answered your own question. If the report

          4  is saying that it suggested it's probably not

          5  sufficient to the extent to which we provide

          6  information to the high school fairs and other

          7  meetings with guidance counselors and so on, the

          8  attempt is to do it more effectively, but --

          9                 MS. BERNARD: The other thing that we

         10  should say, though, is that the new schools high

         11  school directory went to print, went to publication

         12  before we decided which of our 2007 schools were

         13  going to be awarded this grant. So, there was

         14  information that we decided with regards to the

         15  special grants in terms of additional programs at

         16  these schools that was decided after we went to

         17  print. So, to your question, not all of the

         18  information is in there.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So you're going

         20  to send an addendum to all of those things? You

         21  know, like when you go to the theater, if someone is

         22  placing a principal actor they stick it in there so

         23  everybody knows what the deal is? That's what they

         24  do at the theater; isn't that correct? And a lot of

         25  other places, right?
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          2                 MR. THOMASES: This is a little larger

          3  than a theater, but to the degree to which we can

          4  figure out how to get the information out.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: But you're

          6  trying to bring about personalized services in order

          7  for parents to make an informed choice as to what's

          8  best for their child.

          9                 MR. THOMASES: So, to the degree to

         10  which we can get that information out there, we can

         11  work closely with the Office of Student Enrollment

         12  to do that. There is some time left before the

         13  decision points are due in there.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Let me just

         15  introduce my colleague Council Member Helen Foster

         16  of the Bronx.

         17                 Do you have any questions?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Go ahead,

         20  please.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Thank you. And

         22  I apologize if you've gone over this, when we talk

         23  about exclusion of Special Education students, what

         24  falls under Special Education? Like would a child

         25  with dyslexia be in Special Education?
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          2                 MR. THOMASES: I'm not equipped to go

          3  through the details of the different, specific

          4  different strengths or weaknesses of particular

          5  students. There are sort of three --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Well, if we're

          7  doing this exclusion and we're giving grants for

          8  these ten schools, it's not something like -- I

          9  suffer from dyslexia, it's not something I got over.

         10                 MR. THOMASES: Right.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: So, it's not

         12  something that you give a grant for a two-year

         13  period to have a teacher come in or have a coach

         14  come in. There is someone, a teacher who is trained

         15  to teach me the way I learn, and then, wow, look how

         16  brilliant I am. So, after that, it's not a process

         17  that ends, it's ongoing.

         18                 MR. THOMASES: Yes, and I apologize

         19  for any miscommunication. The grant is not such that

         20  you only teach it for two years and then you're

         21  done.

         22                 The grant is to build the capacity of

         23  teachers, particularly teachers who aren't

         24  necessarily trained in working with students

         25  entitled to Special Education services to work with
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          2  those students. All schools immediately this year,

          3  all new schools this year will take students

          4  entitled to what are called, as I said before, SETS

          5  Services, Special Education Teacher Support

          6  Services. My guess is that a student with dyslexia

          7  in general would likely fall into that category and

          8  would be entitled to go to every school in the City.

          9                 The students that are not

         10  necessarily, unless the school decides to take them

         11  in the first two years, and the students that are

         12  now going to the school are students that are

         13  entitled to a special class or what is called

         14  collaborative team teaching, which is a different

         15  level of support, and that's sort of the two big

         16  groups. Does that answer your question? Not even

         17  remotely.

         18                 MS. BERNARD: The part of the

         19  challenge for us, quite frankly, is that we, the new

         20  schools makes a distinction between Special

         21  Education students requiring what we call SETS

         22  Services, and Special Education students who require

         23  CTT and special class services. And so that's the

         24  level of distinction that we make.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: No, I get
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          2  that. But what I'm saying is, for example, and I'll

          3  use dyslexia because I know it well, I don't require

          4  being sent out of a classroom. What I require, and

          5  I'm sure UFT is here, teachers are trained how to

          6  teach a class that has students with different

          7  needs. So, it's not a thing where I need to be

          8  pulled out, it could be something where instead of

          9  my notes, you know, taking with notes, I'm

         10  recording. Things like that, that don't require the

         11  stigma of being pulled out.

         12                 So, my question, are we training, it

         13  would seem to me that we already have teachers that

         14  know how to do this, so in these new schools, as we

         15  put together these teams of principals and coaches,

         16  we should be looking on the teacher level to get

         17  those with those type of training, as opposed to

         18  making the student not apply or not get in and then

         19  be singled out.

         20                 MR. THOMASES: Agreed. And certainly,

         21  as principals begin the 18D process and partnership

         22  with the district and the union, that's part of the

         23  work that is done to identify those teachers.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: The last

         25  question, with the new smaller schools, the support
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          2  system seems to be, and if I have it wrong, please

          3  correct me, top heavy, which means you have the

          4  principals, you have the coaches; is the support

          5  level at the smaller schools in the area of

          6  strengthening, you know, with the leadership

          7  academy, whatever it's called, strengthening the

          8  principals for them to then attract teachers, or is

          9  there equal amount being done on the other end to

         10  support teachers. So, it's a bottom and top, or I

         11  don't meet, or everybody is fully getting support?

         12  Because it seems to me if you throw all your eggs in

         13  the principal/coach basket, and you're not doing the

         14  same thing for the teachers --

         15                 MR. THOMASES: A large part of the

         16  support for the teachers is done in cooperation with

         17  the intermediary partner organizations, as well as

         18  we, the Department of Education provides funds for

         19  schools that don't have intermediary partners that

         20  open without them for start-up grants and those

         21  dollars are driven to support teachers in their

         22  development and paying them procession to come and

         23  work over the summer, or to go to institutes and to

         24  support the development of teachers.

         25                 The theory of changes that a team of
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          2  principals and a team of teachers work together on

          3  developing an effective school, and so certainly

          4  there is work done on that level as well. The

          5  Department's piece in that may be targeted at the

          6  principal and through the leadership academy with

          7  the principal, but certainly the tremendous work

          8  being done in the field, both the gates intermediary

          9  organizations and other organizations hired by

         10  schools to work directly with teachers is absolutely

         11  critical to the work, you are correct.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Dr. Kendall

         14  Stewart has one question and then I have more.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: I just wanted

         16  to follow-up on this two-year bit.

         17                 Have you read the report by these two

         18  groups, one by New York Immigration Coalition and

         19  Advocates for Children and the other by Parents for

         20  Inclusive Education?

         21                 MR. THOMASES: We --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: It's a cited

         23  statement by DOE officials that DOE has a policy of

         24  excluding Special Education and ELL students in the

         25  first two years of small schools existence.
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          2                 My question basically is we know that

          3  they had this problem before, and we are changing

          4  now. For those two years, are you saying that you

          5  have nothing in place for those students?

          6                 MR. THOMASES: No, sir.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Well, tell me

          8  what it is. What is the policy?

          9                 MR. THOMASES: English Language

         10  Learners and Special Education students are entitled

         11  to enter all new small schools. There was the

         12  conversation that we've been having around a

         13  particular group of special education students. It

         14  is worth noting that across the City, that as we

         15  said before the Small Schools Initiative is part of

         16  a larger reform effort and that across the City

         17  English Language Learners are performing better on

         18  almost every single measure in almost every single

         19  kind of school structure, and small schools are part

         20  of that but certainly aren't the only answer.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: So, tell me

         22  what is specifically done for those students, apart

         23  from the general school population.

         24                 MR. THOMASES: Okay. I mean, the core

         25  of a small school, let's take a small school of 108
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          2  ninth graders, where you have a half dozen teachers.

          3  So, those teachers, there is opportunities for

          4  collaborative team teaching just because of the

          5  numbers of teachers, they work together closely, and

          6  then you can begin to engage in dialogues around

          7  let's say Johnny is struggling in math and science

          8  but succeeding in social studies and English. Those

          9  teachers can talk across disciplines, talk about

         10  what are we figuring out for Johnny to be successful

         11  there and how can we figure out how to leverage that

         12  into math and science. And that kind of work happens

         13  with the General Education students, the Special

         14  Education students and the English Language

         15  Learners.  Students that are entitled to services

         16  receive those mandated services, of course, but I

         17  think more to the point, the small school structure

         18  in general provides an opportunity for all students,

         19  regardless of their designation as English Language

         20  Learners, Special Education or General Ed, to get

         21  additional support.

         22                 I was a teacher for a decade in a

         23  small school, an older small school back in the

         24  early nineties, and you know, one of the things that

         25  we found was you couldn't always tell the difference
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          2  in terms of reading level and everything else,

          3  between students coming in designated one particular

          4  way, versus students who are coming in without that

          5  designation. And part of what our work was, was to

          6  figure out how regardless of what the students

          7  designation was, how to get them to figure out how

          8  to learn to read better, do math better, pass their

          9  classes, go on ahead and move on to graduation. That

         10  was our work.

         11                 That's sort of the logic of the way

         12  the small schools work happens.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Your

         14  explanation works well for schools that you have the

         15  full compliment of staff, that's up to two or three

         16  years, and as you said earlier, you build a staff

         17  incrementally.

         18                 Are you saying in the beginning,

         19  within those two years, if you don't have the staff

         20  to do any work, those students will be left behind.

         21                 MR. THOMASES: Part of what I'm saying

         22  is, even in the first two years, the budget of a

         23  brand new school will allow you to hire six

         24  teachers, okay? And so, let's say for a new small

         25  high school you're going to have math class, social
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          2  studies class, English class, science class and some

          3  electives, then the question is what you're going to

          4  do with those extra teachers. Depending on the

          5  student population coming in, you might choose to

          6  hire an ESL teacher full time, you might hire them

          7  as a status, depending on what the students are

          8  entitled to.

          9                 Similarly, with special education.

         10  There have been schools that have decided to hire

         11  two math and two English teachers in order to

         12  figure, and have figured out innovative scheduling

         13  ways within a few classes to figure out how to make

         14  very small classes, they might send half the school

         15  to lunch, and half the school to math, and vice

         16  versa, to create very small classes to move students

         17  along.

         18                 It's even possible in the first two

         19  years, it is particularly challenging, which is why

         20  we provided the incentive grants and the supports

         21  that we have.

         22                 MS. BERNARD: If I could just add to

         23  answer your question, as well, if you look at that

         24  chart that we were trying to share earlier as well,

         25  when you focus on Special Education and English
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          2  Language Learner students in our new schools, as

          3  compared to existing schools, and just look at the

          4  promotions from ninth to tenth grade. So, it's kind

          5  of schools in there first and second years are, new

          6  schools are promoting English Language Learners and

          7  Special Education students at higher rates than

          8  existing schools for the same population.

          9                 So, I think that's another, just to

         10  piggy-back off of what my colleague is talking

         11  about, I think that's another way that from our

         12  perspective we do believe that not only our school

         13  is absolutely taking in students who require English

         14  Language Learners and Special Education services,

         15  we're actually promoting them from ninth to tenth

         16  grade at higher rates than the percentages in

         17  existing schools.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

         19                 Thank you, Dr. Stewart.

         20                 Let me just, before we move on to our

         21  first panel, you indicated that the graduation rate

         22  for 2005 is 58.2 percent. How does New York City

         23  determine that graduation rate? And the reason why I

         24  asked that question is because the State Education

         25  Department is responsible for the entire state, said
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          2  the graduation rate for New York City is 43 percent.

          3  I've heard the Chancellor and Deputy Mayor Walcott

          4  and others say that the graduation rate is 57

          5  percent.

          6                 MR. THOMASES: That's beyond the

          7  purview of either Jemina or myself. I certainly can

          8  commit to getting the calculations and the specific

          9  numbers to you, and we will go back and bring that

         10  to you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So, you're

         12  basing that on whatever they told you the graduation

         13  rate is; is that correct?

         14                 MS. BERNARD: We rely on the data

         15  provided by our Division of Accountability and

         16  Assessment.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. My

         18  question then, I'm asking you to give me an

         19  explanation in writing; how does the City of New

         20  York determine the graduation rate?

         21                 Because my understanding is the State

         22  Department of Education looks at all of the high

         23  schools throughout New York State, and determine the

         24  graduation of students within four years. And that's

         25  a graduation rate. The same as colleges and
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          2  Universities do. And my understanding in DOE, so

          3  when you get a response to me, that New York City

          4  leadership here determines those that graduate

          5  within four years, those that drop out of school and

          6  go ahead and get a GED, and that those that you do

          7  not finish in June but go on to summer school and

          8  then finish in August, and they can pile all that

          9  together and come up with the 57 or 58 percent.

         10  That's what my understanding is.

         11                 And I want a clear explanation from

         12  DOE what is the graduation rate within four years?

         13  Is it 43 percent like the State Education Department

         14  says, or is it a higher figure, okay?

         15                 MR. THOMASES: Yes, sir.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay, let me

         17  thank you both for coming in and giving testimony

         18  here this morning. We appreciate it. And we look

         19  forward to working with you.

         20                 And our first panel is Leo Casey,

         21  Special representative for UFT; Kim Sweet from New

         22  York Lawyers for Public Interest; Deycy Avitia from

         23  the New York Immigration Coalition; and Mae Lee,

         24  Chinese Progressive Association, which is part of

         25  the New York Immigration Coalition. And we're going
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          2  to take it in the order with Leo Casey, the special

          3  rep of UFT going first, and we are -- obviously,

          4  when you come to speak, there is a time limit. The

          5  clock is going to be set at three minutes, and then

          6  it's going to be reset for one additional minute.

          7  So, you have four minutes, three minutes with a

          8  one-minute warning in order to make whatever

          9  statements you need to make verbally, and we will

         10  take additional written information and

         11  documentation that you may submit.

         12                 Leo Casey, Special Representative,

         13  UFT. Welcome and good morning -- good afternoon,

         14  rather.

         15                 MR. CASEY: Good afternoon, Chairman

         16  Jackson. Thank you, distinguished member. The UFT

         17  has a long and proud tradition of support for

         18  educational innovation, and that tradition includes

         19  support for a diversity of schools, large and small,

         20  academic and career technical, comprehensive and

         21  those focused on a clear theme because we believe

         22  that you need a diversity of schools to serve our

         23  diversity of students well.

         24                 Small schools have some particular

         25  strengths, in creating a nurturing family-like
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          2  atmosphere in which teachers and students get to

          3  know each other well, and in which school educators

          4  can work together collegially as professionals on

          5  teaching and learning.

          6                 However, large comprehensive schools

          7  also have strength, in terms of providing a wide

          8  array of academic programs that a small school could

          9  not support. And they're also able to provide such

         10  things as extracurricular activities on a scale that

         11  many small schools cannot.

         12                 New York City new small schools

         13  generally work well, not simply because the schools

         14  themselves are small in scale, but even more

         15  importantly because class size is significantly

         16  smaller in the small schools.

         17                 In the new small schools, the

         18  Department of Education sets a target class size at

         19  25 students, a figure approaching the average class

         20  size in the rest of the states, while houses in the

         21  larger high schools are allowed to go up to the

         22  contractual size limit of 34.

         23                 Over the course of a school day this

         24  difference translates into teachers in a large

         25  school teaching up to 45 more students. Just short
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          2  of the equivalent of two additional classes in a

          3  small school.

          4                 Given the differences in class size,

          5  it does not take an advanced degree in educational

          6  science to understand that compared to students in

          7  large schools, students in small schools will be

          8  better known by their teachers and will receive

          9  substantially more attention and more individualized

         10  instruction from them.

         11                 Educational research is quite

         12  emphatic on the strong educational benefits of small

         13  class size, especially for students living in

         14  poverty, and students at high risk for academic

         15  failure. So, as a matter of simple educational

         16  justice, New York City public school students should

         17  be receiving the opportunities for small class size,

         18  all of them, that students in small schools receive,

         19  yet the Chancellor has not joined us in asking for

         20  smaller class size.

         21                 Given the advantage of new small

         22  schools, it is also essential that all New York City

         23  public school students, especially students most at

         24  risk for academic failure, have the opportunity to

         25  attend them.
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          2                 But you will hear today from folks

          3  who have studied this question and have discovered

          4  that our new small schools, in part because of the

          5  DOE regulation which allows them to opt out for

          6  their first two years from accepting Special

          7  Education students, particularly those with the most

          8  severe disabilities, and English Language Learners,

          9  those schools are not taking their fair share of

         10  English Language Learners and Special Education

         11  students, and those students are being denied the

         12  opportunities to go to the schools where they would

         13  most benefit.

         14                 It is particularly important when one

         15  looks at the graduation rates that you saw before

         16  you, to understand that you are comparing classes

         17  that have substantially different amounts of English

         18  Language Learners and substantially different

         19  amounts of Special Education students as a matter of

         20  intellectual honesty, what you are comparing is

         21  small schools running downhill and large schools

         22  running uphill.

         23                 Lastly, my last point on this matter,

         24  is that it is absolutely important when large

         25  schools are closed down, and we have had success
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          2  around New York City in places like Columbus High

          3  School, and in places like August Martin High

          4  School, where there is a culture of collaboration

          5  between administration and teachers and there's

          6  community involvement, we have had some success in

          7  turning around some large schools.

          8                 But where large schools are to be

          9  turned, the DOE decides to close them down. It is

         10  essential that they engage the teachers, the

         11  Administration, the parents, the students of those

         12  schools to see if there is the collective will and

         13  the capacity to transform those schools.

         14                 Schools are not being given the

         15  opportunity to on their own transform themselves and

         16  improve themselves.

         17                 I have more extended remarks which

         18  are in the printed contribution.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you, sir.

         20                 Next, is that Kim Sweet?

         21                 MS. SWEET: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: From the New

         23  York Lawyers for Public Interest. Please go ahead.

         24                 MS. SWEET: Thank you very much. I

         25  should also say that for the past ten years I've

                                                            133

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  been Counsel to an organization called parents for

          3  inclusive education, which consists of parents,

          4  educators and advocates, who want to increase

          5  inclusion of students with disabilities in New York

          6  City schools.

          7                 As you know, in October we released a

          8  report entitled "Small Schools: Few Choices," which

          9  documents how students --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: That's this

         11  report here?

         12                 MS. SWEET: This one.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: That's it. How

         14  Mayor Bloomberg Small High School Reforms Deny Full

         15  Access to English Language Learners?

         16                 MS. SWEET: No, it's the other one.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. I'm so

         18  sorry.

         19                 MS. SWEET: This one.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: That one.

         21                 MS. SWEET: How New York City High

         22  School Reform Effort Left Students With Disabilities

         23  Behind.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay, very good.

         25                 MS. SWEET: The report documents how
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          2  students with disabilities have been denied the

          3  opportunity to benefit from the Small Schools

          4  Initiative. The report focuses on two main types of

          5  problems: The first, which you alluded to in your

          6  questioning, is the Department of Education's

          7  failure to give students with disabilities and their

          8  parents the information and the guidance that they

          9  need to participate meaningfully in a high school

         10  choice process.

         11                 The Department has taken some initial

         12  steps to address our concerns in this area, and if I

         13  had more time I would be happy to address any

         14  questions you have about that.

         15                 The other type of problem that keeps

         16  many students with disabilities out of new small

         17  high schools, is that relatively few such high

         18  schools provide the programs and services that they

         19  need.

         20                 This problem arises in large part

         21  from the Department's deliberate policy to allow new

         22  small schools to exclude students with disabilities

         23  who need any type of special class, either an

         24  integrated special class or a self-contained special

         25  class, the first two years of the school's
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          2  existence.

          3                 And I should clarify for the record

          4  that this group certainly does include students who

          5  have dyslexia, many, many students who have

          6  dyslexia.

          7                 This policy is all the more troubling

          8  because contrary to what the Department said here

          9  today, they do not appear to ensure that all new

         10  schools serve a broad range of disabilities even by

         11  year three as they've promised.

         12                 The Department has refused to

         13  reconsider this basic rule allowing exclusion of

         14  students with special needs for the school's first

         15  two years. In reaction to criticism, they have

         16  instead devised some training and incentive programs

         17  to try and entice small schools to begin serving a

         18  broader range of need.

         19                 But a review of the current high

         20  school directory indicates that these voluntary

         21  programs are not, at least so far, doing much to

         22  open new small high schools to students with

         23  disabilities who need any type of special class. For

         24  fall 2007, the Department's official high school

         25  directory indicates that just 24 of the small high
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          2  schools across the City expect to offer

          3  self-contained Special Education classes.

          4                 This number is an increase of only

          5  two schools from last year's directory, and

          6  represents only 11.5 percent of the small schools

          7  available to others.

          8                 Moreover, the Department just

          9  released its directory of brand new small high

         10  schools to open this fall. Of these 21 brand new

         11  high schools, only one indicates that it will offer

         12  an integrated Special Education class and not a

         13  single one of these brand new schools indicates that

         14  it will offer a self-contained special class.

         15                 So, clearly students who require

         16  Special Education classes of any type will not have

         17  access to a range of choices that is at all

         18  comparable to their peers.

         19                 We urge the City Council not to take

         20  the Department's excuses at face value but to

         21  continue to push the Department to include students

         22  with special needs in all of its reform efforts,

         23  including, I might say, the newer middle school

         24  reform effort that has been raised here today.

         25                 There are some few small high schools
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          2  that have chosen to accept a broader range of

          3  students with disabilities from day one, thereby

          4  disproving any assertions by the Department that

          5  cannot be done without two years to build capacity.

          6                 Finally, I should add that I do know

          7  of a very reputable group that made a proposal last

          8  year for a new high school that would be completely

          9  inclusive, students with special needs, called the

         10  Brooklyn Arts Academy and it was denied space.

         11                 I respectfully urge the Council to

         12  question the Department as to why this school did

         13  not receive a site with the desperate need for

         14  programs serving this population.

         15                 Thank you very much. I would be happy

         16  to answer any questions.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you. Now,

         18  did New York Lawyers for Public Interest, have you

         19  filed litigation regarding denying students with

         20  special needs or English Language Learners access to

         21  these small schools, or you're just urging them

         22  based on the reports that you put forward?

         23                 MS. SWEET: Well, as you probably know

         24  there was a complaint filed already where United

         25  States Department of Education Office of Civil
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          2  Rights, based on the two-year exclusion of students

          3  with special needs and of English Language Learners,

          4  and we continue to support that effort.

          5                 And then we did decide to go with a

          6  report at this point instead of litigation. We have

          7  not ruled out litigation, but we are hopeful that

          8  maybe they would respond to the concerns we raised

          9  and made some changes. We also do have a number of

         10  individual cases of students who were wronged under

         11  this policy that we continue to litigate at the

         12  administrative levels.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And how long

         14  have you been raising these issues with the

         15  Department of Education?

         16                 MS. SWEET: About a year.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: About a year.

         18                 Concerning Mr. Casey, from the

         19  union's perspective, and this is my opinion, in my

         20  opinion, as my colleagues' questioning with the DOE

         21  officials with respects to small schools and there's

         22  positive aspects to small schools, there's also what

         23  some believe are negative impacts. But also there's

         24  quite a number of my colleagues believe that by

         25  phasing out the large schools which DOE has deemed
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          2  to be failing and pushing students into the other

          3  large schools, in our opinion they have written off

          4  the other large schools in favor of small schools.

          5                 Has UFT taken a position on that, if

          6  at all? And what do you see with respect to the

          7  positive aspects of large schools versus the smaller

          8  schools?

          9                 MR. CASEY: Yes, we believe that the

         10  DOE's policy does not have proper balance in terms

         11  of support for small schools and large schools. And

         12  the reality is that when they say that their small

         13  schools, for example, have more English Language

         14  Learners than the Citywide average, that is not the

         15  pertinent point of comparison. The pertinent point

         16  of comparison is do they have more English Language

         17  Learners than the schools they replace.

         18                 There are moving targets here. And so

         19  what happens is that those English Language Learners

         20  that are not served in that small school, those

         21  special education students that are not served in

         22  that small school end up going to neighboring large

         23  schools and creating such concentrations of

         24  high-need students that those large schools then

         25  begin to have serious academic problems.
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          2                 So, in our view, you need to have a

          3  policy which looks at the whole ecology of the

          4  school system. You can't simply play with one part

          5  of it and not consider the effects of it. We want

          6  studies before they close down large schools, and we

          7  want the same kind of supports for large schools

          8  that they have for small schools. So, small class

          9  size is good for small schools, then it sure as hell

         10  is also good for large schools.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And also, as far

         12  as the resources, as far as staffing and guidance

         13  counselors and college advisors. I mean, considering

         14  that a school has 3,000 or 4,000 students, it should

         15  have an appropriate number of staff in order to

         16  ensure the type of services that are being provided

         17  in small schools. You would agree with that, right?

         18                 MR. CASEY: Absolutely.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Is that really

         20  what's happening within the large high schools, in

         21  your opinion?

         22                 MR. CASEY: If you do school-by-school

         23  comparisons you will see that small high schools

         24  have a much lower teacher-to-student ratio, so that

         25  there are supports that they're able to give, that
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          2  the large high school isn't.

          3                 They're not completely the same in

          4  terms of comparison, but there clearly are services

          5  that small high schools are able to provide that

          6  large high schools aren't.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: You said in your

          8  statement that the average class size for the small

          9  high schools were 25.

         10                 MR. CASEY: They set that target.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: No, they said

         12  27, and that's two students more. When you look at

         13  overall, two students more, you know, on average

         14  it's a big difference.

         15                 MR. CASEY: It is a target. The 34 is

         16  the contractual limit. And, so, what I would tell

         17  you is that even whether they say 25 or 27, if you

         18  look at it, you'll find some under and some over.

         19                 The real I think significant point of

         20  comparison is between what happens in a school that

         21  doesn't have that target, where you have the classes

         22  going up to 34.

         23                 We're talking whether it's 34 and

         24  it's seven students per class, or whether it's nine

         25  students per class, there's a very significant
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          2  differential here.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Even if they

          4  said, okay, we're going to provide that in all of

          5  the large high schools, there's not just a physical

          6  space in order to provide that; is that correct?

          7                 MR. CASEY: There are real issues of

          8  space in terms of large class size, in terms of

          9  lowering class size. But there are ways in which it

         10  can be done. And there are ways in which even in

         11  schools that are overcrowded, you could put two

         12  teachers in a class working together so you could

         13  get the benefits of the lower student/teacher ratio.

         14                 It is possible for them to do this.

         15  This is not an impossible demand.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, let me

         17  thank both of you for coming in and giving

         18  testimony. Even though I know that you only read

         19  part and summarized, you both submitted full

         20  documentation for the record.

         21                 Thank you very much.

         22                 Deycy Avitia from the The New York

         23  Immigration Coalition and Mae Lee from the Chinese

         24  Progressive Association, which is, I assume a member

         25  of the New York Immigration Coalition.
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          2                 Please pronounce your name. I know I

          3  messed up your name in pronunciation.

          4                 MS. AVITIA: Thank you, Chairman

          5  Jackson, for allowing us to testify and for sticking

          6  around.

          7                 My name is Deycy Avitia, and I'm the

          8  Education Policy Associate for the New York

          9  Immigration Coalition, an umbrella policy and

         10  advocacy organization for over 200 member groups

         11  throughout New York State that fight for justice and

         12  opportunity for our newest New Yorkers.

         13                 I am also one of the researchers for

         14  a recent report released by the New York Immigration

         15  Coalition and Advocates for Children, which I

         16  believe you have a copy of, entitled So Many

         17  Schools: So Few Options. How Mayor Bloomberg's Small

         18  High School Reforms deny full access to English

         19  Language Learners, which basically found what we'd

         20  be talking about today, that English Language

         21  Learners are not being provided full and equitable

         22  access to the majority of small schools in New York

         23  City.

         24                 So, I'm here to speak on behalf of

         25  the newly 48,000 New York City high school students
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          2  classified as ELLs. I would like to begin by stating

          3  we have been monitoring the impact of small schools

          4  on ELLs for years. For years we have also been

          5  sharing in our concerns and have requested

          6  information from the Department of Education.

          7                 Given the relative lack of

          8  information that was available on the status of

          9  English Language Learners in small schools, the New

         10  York Immigration Coalition Advocates for Children,

         11  and seven community partners, which are listed on my

         12  testimony, decided to investigate for ourselves if

         13  English Language Learners were actually included in

         14  the Mayor's New School Reform, and as you know our

         15  answer for the majority of questions was no.

         16                 We found that English Language

         17  Learners, despite having among the highest drop-out

         18  rate in the City, lack full access to the majority

         19  of small schools.

         20                 In 2005/2006, out of 183 schools that

         21  we investigated, the majority, 51 percent, had less

         22  than five percent of ELLs in the student body.

         23                 While a few ELL focused schools had

         24  been created to help these students, such as nine

         25  international high schools, they are not a
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          2  substitute for full access to all small high

          3  schools. While small high schools are intended to

          4  increase school choice, ELLs, as a result of, you

          5  know, various policies which I'll get into in a

          6  little bit, I excluded for many of the career

          7  oriented and specialized programs offer of a small

          8  high schools.

          9                 For example, an ELL student is

         10  virtually barred from attending Queens Gateway to

         11  Health Sciences, Bronx School of Law and Finance,

         12  Core Academy of Harlem, and many and many, many

         13  other schools.

         14                 This is largely the result of an

         15  existing policy which we've touched on today that

         16  does exist, which allows small high schools to

         17  exclude special education and English Language

         18  Learners in the first two years of operation. It's a

         19  policy that has been confirmed by top DOE officials

         20  to us, including Michelle Cahill and Garth Harris.

         21                 It's a policy that is unacceptable

         22  and sends a message to immigrant kids and their

         23  parents that they're not a priority to this

         24  Administration.

         25                 Even more troubling is that even when
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          2  small schools do have ELLs, a lot of times these

          3  schools don't have the services to help the students

          4  learn English. Forty-one percent of the schools

          5  surveyed reported they offered no language programs

          6  for ELL students.

          7                 Our report also found that contrary

          8  to what we've been hearing today, that older

          9  schools, meaning schools after two years still do

         10  not have the required programs to serve ELL

         11  students, and that's a very important thing to

         12  highlight, because that's basically one of the

         13  rationales that has been provided for allowing

         14  schools a two-year exemption.

         15                 Another major problem we identified

         16  is that very few small high schools have been

         17  created in neighborhoods where the largest number of

         18  immigrant and ELL students recite.

         19                 While Queens had 11,000 ELL students,

         20  approximately 30 percent of the total high school

         21  ELL population, it only had seven percent of new

         22  high schools in 2005.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Would you wrap

         24  up, please?

         25                 MS. AVITIA: Okay.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So, basically,

          3  since the release of the report parents and

          4  advocates have been coming to us with a lot of other

          5  problems, some of which you will be hearing today.

          6  There's major concerns about the closing of Tilden

          7  and Lafayette High School, which are very notable

          8  for having a Haitian and a bilingual program, and

          9  you know, parents and teachers are rightly

         10  concerned, that these programs will not be replaced.

         11                 We look forward to working with the

         12  Department of Education, intermediary partners, and

         13  the City Council to make sure that ELL students are

         14  incorporated.

         15                 Our major recommendations include:

         16                 - eliminating the two-year policy and

         17  requiring all schools to have an appropriate plan

         18  for serving all ELL students --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: The

         20  recommendations are in your report.

         21                 MS. AVITIA: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: We have them.

         23                 MS. AVITIA: And the major one is

         24  increasing the capacity of small schools to serve

         25  ELL students. And that goes beyond the ten small
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          2  grants, we want all small schools to be able to

          3  serve ELL students.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

          5                 Mae Lee, Chinese Progressive

          6  Association.

          7                 MS. LEE: Good afternoon.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Good afternoon.

          9                 MS. LEE: My name is Mae Lee. I'm

         10  Executive Director of the Chinese Progressive

         11  Association, a community-based organization in

         12  Manhattan, Chinatown. We serve residents, both youth

         13  and adults, who have worked or go to school in

         14  Chinatown. We also run a program for Asian Immigrant

         15  High School students who are English Language

         16  Learners.

         17                 We're one of the collaborators in the

         18  report issued by the New York Immigration Coalition

         19  and Advocates for Children about the small schools

         20  and ELLs.

         21                 Many of our parents told us that they

         22  came to this country so that their children could

         23  have a good education and bright future. Many of our

         24  parents and students like the idea of the small

         25  schools because they give the opportunity for
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          2  smaller classes and in some cases they provide

          3  educational instruction in special areas of

          4  interest.

          5                 At the same time, most of our

          6  students cannot even utilize the opportunities in

          7  these small schools, or any of the opportunities

          8  they have to offer, because these schools do not

          9  offer English language, ESL or bilingual education.

         10                 Last year we interviewed and surveyed

         11  nearly 200 students in and outside of our program

         12  concerning small schools.

         13                 Typically students did not know

         14  anything about the small schools, where they were or

         15  even that they existed. They were most often

         16  referred to one of the few schools in the City that

         17  served Chinese English Language Learners.

         18                 Some of the schools were designated

         19  as small schools, but they quickly became large and

         20  overcrowded schools.

         21                 We also have small schools who are

         22  right in our neighborhood, or in our neighborhood,

         23  that do not have English as a Second Language

         24  programs.

         25                 One of the staff members of a school
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          2  that is right across the street from our office,

          3  very nicely told us that they have no programs

          4  because there are no ELLs in their school.

          5                 Well, I say that an ELL will never go

          6  to the school if there is no program to serve their

          7  needs.

          8                 Our students are bright and qualified

          9  enough to enter these small schools right now. So

         10  they need to have programs that will help them to

         11  overcome the language and cultural barriers that

         12  they face as new immigrants so they can succeed.

         13                 So, what we're advocating for is

         14  let's start having the programs right now, not

         15  later. Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you both

         17  for coming in, representing your organizations.

         18                 Robert Hughes, President of New

         19  Business for Public Schools.

         20                 You may begin, Bob.

         21                 MR. HUGHES: Good afternoon,

         22  Councilman Jackson. It's a pleasure to be here. It

         23  always is at the City Council. I know the hour is

         24  late, so I will go very briefly through prepared

         25  remarks that you have in front of you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

          3                 MR. HUGHES: First, I want to just

          4  thank the Council. In the past five years the

          5  Council has contributed $34 million to the small

          6  school work that we've been doing in the Bronx and

          7  throughout the City.

          8                 That money has largely been flowing

          9  to community organizations that are working hard to

         10  integrate those schools in their neighborhoods.

         11                 In addition, the Council has put a

         12  significant amount of money in capital improvements,

         13  and those improvements have led to the creation of

         14  new seats and new sites for students.

         15                 There is a lot of conversation about

         16  the seat sites problem. Let me just be brief and say

         17  that at Kennedy High School, for example, when we

         18  started to work in that high school, there was an

         19  enormous number of rooms in the building that were

         20  unused.

         21                 With the City Council dollars we were

         22  able to convert those buildings, unused shops, et

         23  cetera, to ensure that there are more seats in the

         24  building. So, it's really that capturing of new

         25  space, and using it for classroom purposes that I

                                                            152

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  think the Department was trying to talk about, and

          3  which the City Council has played an enormous

          4  leadership role in. By using those dollars in that

          5  way we were able to actually identify about 1,500

          6  seats and save the City of New York enormous amounts

          7  of money in new capital construction. We should be

          8  doing that in all schools, small schools and large

          9  schools, but it's great that with the Council's

         10  support we've been able to do it, and we need to

         11  continue it.

         12                 In addition, I want to thank the

         13  Council for the brand new work that's been done in

         14  large schools and small schools. It was alluded to

         15  earlier, the idea of keeping a campus identity and

         16  allowing the small schools to have their separate

         17  identities. It means that every person in the

         18  building is dual citizen, and that enables kids to

         19  both function as a citizen of the Walton campus and

         20  function as a member of the Celia Cruz community.

         21                 At the end of the day, and there is a

         22  lot of data here, we worked very hard, not

         23  perfectly, to try to increase educational

         24  opportunity for all students.

         25                 If you look at the data pack that
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          2  we're providing you, the good news is that I think

          3  graduation rates are much higher. Graduation rate,

          4  defined as a four-year cohort rate with legitimate

          5  discharges taken out, with illegitimate discharges

          6  counted against us as kids who have not succeeded in

          7  the program.

          8                 You'll see that in the upcoming year,

          9  our estimate is that almost 18 of the schools that

         10  are graduating students of the 39 with first classes

         11  next year, will exceed 80 percent as a graduation

         12  rate. Another 17 will be above the City's identified

         13  58 percent rate, and only four are below that level.

         14  Those schools relate to transfer schools and a

         15  number of the international schools where a

         16  five-year cohort rate is much more appropriate than

         17  a four-year cohort rate as a measure.

         18                 The numbers we're presenting to you

         19  are based on an on-track metric that we've created

         20  based on work with the University of Chicago. That

         21  looked at credit accumulation in regents pass rate

         22  to enable us to see where kids are at any point in

         23  their four-year progression, and work hard to keep

         24  them on track to graduate. We'll see if these

         25  numbers are accurate. Again, to be completely

                                                            154

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  transparent in the first year, we've done this, the

          3  on-track almost always converts to a graduate, the

          4  near track converts it about 70 to 72 percent of the

          5  time, and that's with an end of one.

          6                 The other thing that I would want to

          7  draw your attention to is the increasing numbers of

          8  special ed and ELL students in these schools.

          9                 At this point, the New Century

         10  Initiative, which works in 83 schools, has a

         11  Citywide, an average rate across the initiative of

         12  all four years of 11 percent compared to a Citywide

         13  High School Average of about nine percent.

         14                 I agree that it obscures the type of

         15  student that we're serving, but we've worked hard to

         16  take advantage of the Department's new initiatives

         17  on self-contained special ed, and our own

         18  initiatives to try to increase the number of kids

         19  who would traditionally be put in the segregated

         20  special ed placement.

         21                 I might also add that in the ninth

         22  grade this year, 15.2 percent of the kids in the New

         23  Century schools were special ed.

         24                 On ELL we're working hard, and the

         25  schools we're creating this year, we are trying very
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          2  much to create dual language in ESL schools. In the

          3  existing schools our overall average is 8.8 percent

          4  across the initiative, which is below the Citywide

          5  average of 10.6 percent at the high school level.

          6  But I'm optimistic that with kids now entering to

          7  graduate at 2010, traditionally freshmen, will be at

          8  the Citywide average, and we hope to increase it.

          9                 In conclusion, there's lots of other

         10  things I could say. We want to thank the Council

         11  both for its support and its role as a critical

         12  friend, as we do with the advocacy groups to push us

         13  harder and faster.

         14                 This is hard work, there are no easy

         15  answers, we've made lots of mistakes, I hope we make

         16  new ones, and not repeat the old ones, but I think

         17  the general trajectory is in the right direction.

         18                 One other just thought. Small schools

         19  and large schools need to coalesce. When we started

         20  the small school movement we worked in the 12

         21  schools with an average four-year graduation rate of

         22  35 percent.

         23                 In our view there was very little you

         24  could do in those buildings, to turn those buildings

         25  around, and the Department agreed and the UFT and
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          2  the CSA agreed and we worked together to shut those

          3  buildings down.

          4                 We're now in the process of

          5  continuing to create small schools, but we're also

          6  working large schools. In Columbus, in New Dorp, in

          7  Hillcrest, in a variety of large schools I think

          8  there are enormous capacities in those buildings. We

          9  hope to exploit those always as you suggested,

         10  Councilman Jackson, in the interest of children to

         11  get them to higher graduation rates onto college and

         12  a good job.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you. Now,

         14  with respects to the NCHS, that's the New Century

         15  High Schools, are all of those New Visions' schools

         16  under your umbrella?

         17                 MR. HUGHES: The New Century High

         18  Schools are an amalgam of, they work under our

         19  umbrella but each one is created with a community

         20  partner, so that they're jointly owned, if you will,

         21  by new visions, the educators in the building and

         22  then community groups who have come forward to start

         23  schools.

         24                 So, Make The Road By Walking, for

         25  example, has started the Bushwick School of Social
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          2  Justice with Brooklyn College. We have a number of

          3  schools created by other community-based

          4  organizations, civic groups like the East Side

          5  Settlement House, and groups like Urban Assembly.

          6                 So, we really tried to kind of

          7  include community as much as you can. We're not

          8  always perfect in it. We're going to try to keep

          9  doing it more.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And how does the

         11  New Visions School public schools determine the

         12  graduation rate of the students in your high school?

         13                 MR. HUGHES: It's a four-year cohort

         14  graduation rate.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: What does that

         16  mean to a person that doesn't understand that? Tell

         17  me.

         18                 MR. HUGHES: It's the number of kids

         19  who come in, and then we look at it four years

         20  later, we exclude the transfers where kids transfer

         21  to other schools, or they're discharged for

         22  legitimate reasons. We include those students who

         23  can't figure out what the school is doing on its

         24  discharge number.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: When you say
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          2  discharge for legitimate reasons, like what?

          3                 MR. HUGHES: GED, a transfer to

          4  another school, are two examples of legitimate

          5  reasons.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Because you

          7  heard the question that I asked of DOE, they say the

          8  graduation of all high school students 58 percent,

          9  but my understanding of the State Education

         10  Department, they're saying it's 43 percent.

         11                 MR. HUGHES: As you know, from the

         12  Campaign for Fiscal Equity case there's been an

         13  enormous challenge in defining a uniformed

         14  graduation rate.

         15                 My hope is that the Chancellor and

         16  the Commissioner sit down and develop a uniformed

         17  rate that we're clear on so we can all use that

         18  number consistently.

         19                 Certainly, in the Campaign For Fiscal

         20  Equity case, which I was involved in, we would see

         21  in Bushwick 1,100 kids coming into the school and

         22  225 kids leaving the school on a graduation rate,

         23  counted as 45 percent.

         24                 So, the numbers here are a little

         25  unclear, and we need to work to clean them up.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, let me

          3  thank you for coming in and as the President for New

          4  Visions Public Schools.

          5                 MR. HUGHES: Thank you. And I just

          6  would direct the Council's attention. We had three

          7  educators here, some extraordinary people working.

          8  They're submitting testimony and I direct your

          9  attention to it. It's fantastic work.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

         11                 And next, Matthew Lenaghan from

         12  Advocates for Children of New York City. David

         13  Bloomfield, President of Citywide High Schools.

         14  Sandra Hogan, from the Child Center of New York. Is

         15  Sandra here? Sandra.

         16                 And then Leonie Haimson from Class

         17  Size Matters. I know the table is only fit for two,

         18  but then the two can be ready to be prepared.

         19                 Matthew Lenaghan from Advocates for

         20  Children of New York City, you may begin.

         21                 MR. LENAGHAN: Good morning. My name

         22  is Matthew Lenaghan, and I am the Deputy Director of

         23  Advocates for Children. I want to thank the

         24  Education Committee for -- and I will now speak on

         25  the mic. And I want to thank the Education Committee
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          2  for convening this hearing, and Mr. Jackson

          3  especially.

          4                 Advocates for Children is a

          5  non-profit legal advocacy organizations whose

          6  mission for over 35 years has been to ensure equal

          7  educational opportunities and quality education for

          8  children in the New York City schools.

          9                 We're committed to serving children

         10  who are most at risk of school failure, due to

         11  factors such as disability, poverty, race,

         12  immigration status and involvement in the juvenile

         13  justice and child welfare systems.

         14                 With my testimony, I'd like to focus

         15  on the impact of these small high school initiatives

         16  on English Language Learners, students with special

         17  education needs, and overaged, under-credited high

         18  school students, as well as the students who fall

         19  into any combination of those categories.

         20                 AFC acknowledges that there are

         21  preliminary studies that suggest the new small

         22  schools show improved outcomes for students

         23  generally, but we're concerned that the specific

         24  population is not receiving the benefits of small

         25  schools, and are also being harmed by the closing of
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          2  large schools.

          3                 There was an article yesterday in the

          4  New York Times where an ESL teacher from Tilden High

          5  School was quoted as saying education involves

          6  trade-offs, it always does. Often, as is the case

          7  here, the cost of these trade-offs are born by the

          8  City's most vulnerable students.

          9                 ELLs and Students for Special

         10  Education Needs and over-aged under-credited high

         11  school students, all have lower graduation rates

         12  than the general student population, and may have

         13  the most to gain from smaller, more personalized

         14  learning environments. In our experience, the

         15  dismantling of the large high schools and the

         16  creation of new small schools in their place,

         17  explicitly excludes the ELLs, as we've heard some

         18  testimony about already, eliminates programs and

         19  services needed by ELLs and Special Education

         20  students and does not replace those services and

         21  creates incentives to push over-aged and

         22  under-credited high school students out of high

         23  school entirely, leaving them with no viable school

         24  or program options.

         25                 Unfortunately, these students are
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          2  also more likely to be ELL and/or Special Education

          3  students. These factors contribute to an already

          4  unacceptably high drop-out rate for those students.

          5                 The Department of Education has

          6  repeatedly confirmed its policy that new high

          7  schools, new small high schools are not required to

          8  accept ELLs and students with disabilities who need

          9  any kind of Special Education classroom for the

         10  first two years. And at that point I think there

         11  was, just to clarify, there was a certain amount of

         12  conversation before about, yes, we take Special

         13  Education students, really the difference between

         14  what was traditionally called resource room and is

         15  now the SETS teacher and then everything else in

         16  Special Education is important to note here that the

         17  small schools we're talking about taking the least

         18  needy students or the most easy to include with the

         19  general education population.

         20                 The policy is discriminatory towards

         21  students with limited English proficiency and

         22  students with disability.

         23                 Furthermore, this policy runs counter

         24  to the idea that schools should be inclusive

         25  learning environments for diverse student body,
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          2  particularly in a City like New York.

          3                 The existence of this formal policy

          4  about the waiting two years, sends a message that

          5  the needs of these students are not a priority and

          6  that they are difficult to educate and they do not

          7  need to be included in the sweeping reform efforts.

          8                 Does that mean that I'm out of time?

          9  Okay.

         10                 The dismantling of large,

         11  comprehensive high schools also leads to a loss of

         12  critical program services for ELLs and students who

         13  need special education services.

         14                 For example, we learned that the

         15  closing of Tilden High School in Brooklyn will lead

         16  to the elimination of one of only four Haitian

         17  Creole bilingual programs in the City, since schools

         18  are only mandated to create bilingual education

         19  programs when they have 20 or more ELLs at the same

         20  grade level and the same native language. These

         21  programs are much more likely to exist in large

         22  schools, rather than small schools.

         23                 Furthermore, in general, the small

         24  schools that will replace these larger high schools

         25  are not mandated to accept ELLs, and not guaranteed
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          2  to have services for ELLs.

          3                 The same pattern holds true for

          4  students who need special education services to

          5  learn. You have students who have a certain type of

          6  disability, you're more likely to have 15 or a class

          7  worth of the same when you have a large high school.

          8                 As documented in a report released by

          9  NYLIP in October, small schools that open in place

         10  of large schools do not offer the same services that

         11  were previously available to the students such as

         12  collaborative team teaching and self-contained

         13  special ed classes.

         14                 As a result, ELLs and students who

         15  need special education services have to go elsewhere

         16  to find the services they need.

         17                 Not surprisingly, the data shows that

         18  ELLs and students with disabilities are

         19  over-represented in the large failing schools.

         20                 In addition, we have received reports

         21  from community-based organizations that the DOE's

         22  recent phasing out of large high schools reached the

         23  pushing out of over-aged and under-credited

         24  students.

         25                 When large schools are phased out,
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          2  the smaller programs that reopen in their place,

          3  typically are not designed to serve older students,

          4  and do not accept students who are beyond 9th grade,

          5  this means that the older students who have no

          6  credits or few credits can no longer remain at their

          7  large school and are left with limited educational

          8  options.

          9                 The Department of Education does have

         10  an office of multiple pathways to graduation, which

         11  has been developing programs to serve that student

         12  body, but these programs can serve only a small

         13  fraction of the estimated 138,000 over-age and

         14  under-credited high school students that reside in

         15  New York City.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I know. I hear

         17  it all the time.

         18                 Let me thank you for coming in and

         19  giving your testimony. Clearly, we talked about ELL

         20  and children with special needs, but you touched on

         21  a subject as far as over-aged, under-credited

         22  students that are being basically forced out of the

         23  system. That's very important.

         24                 I do have to move on.

         25                 MR. LENAGHAN: Okay.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

          3                 David Bloomfield, President of the

          4  Citywide Council on High Schools.

          5                 David.

          6                 MR. BLOOMFIELD: Thank you very much,

          7  Mr. Chairman. I feel like I've been present at the

          8  City's second snow job of the week.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I hear you.

         10                 MR. BLOOMFIELD: I come to you today

         11  not to praise small schools, nor to bury them.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         13                 MR. BLOOMFIELD: I'm a past advocate

         14  for small schools, even going back when I worked for

         15  Advocates for Children in the 1970s when I helped to

         16  publicize the Small Schools Initiative in Region 4

         17  East Harlem. But today I am a critic of this

         18  initiative.

         19                 As you know, the Citywide Council on

         20  High Schools, of which I'm the President, has called

         21  for a delay in implementing new small schools

         22  because of evidence of problems within the schools,

         23  and caused by the schools in the rest of the system.

         24                 Further, the Council filed a

         25  complaint with the Federal Office of Civil Rights,
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          2  concerning the Department of Education's policy to

          3  exclude certain ELL and Special Education students

          4  from these schools, at least during their early

          5  years of operation.

          6                 OCR found enough substance to our

          7  complaint to launch its own investigation which

          8  continues. I won't go into my remarks about that

          9  issue, which obviously has been substantially spoken

         10  about in this hearing, but we are not alone in our

         11  criticisms.

         12                 Even the leading pioneer of small

         13  schools, Debbie Meier, has written with Diane

         14  Ravitch in Education Week:

         15                 "We both fear that a good idea has

         16  too often been subverted by the mass production of

         17  large numbers of small schools, without adequate

         18  planning or qualified leadership and with

         19  insufficient thought given to how they might promote

         20  class and racial integration, rather than contribute

         21  to further segregation...The latest reforms contain

         22  disturbing and unacknowledged implications. Many

         23  students are assigned to schools of choice that the

         24  students themselves have not chosen. When big

         25  schools are closed down, thousands of students are
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          2  relocated to the remaining large schools, causing

          3  extreme overcrowding, since there are not enough

          4  seats for all of them in the new small schools. In

          5  some cases, the new small schools have excluded

          6  students who have required special education

          7  services or have limited English proficiency, and

          8  all of this is happening in the name of equity and

          9  closing the achievement gap and other unimpeachable

         10  rhetoric."

         11                 Ravitch also states that while she is

         12  not an opponent of the movement, she questions

         13  whether such schools have the capacity to offer a

         14  reasonable curriculum, including advanced classes.

         15                 Barbara Schneider of Michigan State

         16  University investigated national data on students in

         17  small and large schools to compare how the

         18  experience affected their post-high school plans.

         19  She researched items such as how many colleges

         20  students had applied to and whether they were

         21  accepted, whether they were looking to attend four-

         22  or two-year schools and their high school math

         23  achievement. Her findings suggest that larger

         24  schools may be a more optimal environment for

         25  certain students - primarily less affluent urban
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          2  kids. Schneider, earlier a proponent of small high

          3  schools, now says, "I'm afraid we have done a

          4  terrible disservice to kids" and she says, "Size

          5  doesn't matter. It's also about what goes on in

          6  schools." Amen.

          7                 Since Leonie Haimson is here, I won't

          8  include her in my remarks. I will conclude by

          9  discussing this WestEd report that was not only

         10  bought and paid for by the Gates Foundation that

         11  established the schools, but which has been given

         12  prominence by the Bloomberg Administration, as

         13  somehow proof that their initiative is working.

         14                 But the positive WestEd findings,

         15  unnegated by the report itself, which in an appendix

         16  called "Limitation of Data," undercuts its entire

         17  validity and reliability as a purported research

         18  document.

         19                 Despite its optimism about the small

         20  schools -- can I continue? Despite its optimism

         21  about the small schools, the report cautions that

         22  the authors looked only at a few schools and notes

         23  that much of the data school officials reported has

         24  not been verified.

         25                 "Given the preliminary and limited
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          2  nature of the student information, it is not yet

          3  possible to compare these new schools to other

          4  public secondary schools in the City..." The report

          5  ends."But" continuing, "...while this report is

          6  descriptive only and must be read from that

          7  perspective, what it describes is intriguing and

          8  appears promising." But to me, preliminary data that

          9  are descriptive only are meaningless for policy

         10  purposes. These are anecdotes, maybe true, but tales

         11  about 14 schools that the researchers refused to

         12  identify and that were incubated under very special

         13  beneficial conditions; for example, banning special

         14  needs and ELL classes, growing one grade at a time

         15  without allowing incoming students at different

         16  levels, et cetera.

         17                 The glossy report clearly should not

         18  be used for policy purposes any more than the most

         19  preliminary data on a drug trial or stories of

         20  patients helped by a given treatment should be used

         21  to rush a medicine to market. The press bears some

         22  responsibility here, reporting without question

         23  DOE's hyperbole. The WestEd document is not news.

         24                 My objections are not to the schools

         25  themselves, some of which may be excellent, but to
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          2  the misuse of data to justify the irresponsible

          3  scaling up of this speculative, discriminatory

          4  policy on the backs of many kids attending these

          5  schools and others who are negatively impacted by

          6  the initiative.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Let me thank

          9  both of you for coming in, representing your

         10  respective organizations, and clearly it's important

         11  for us as members of the City Council to not only

         12  hear DOE but to hear people talk from a positive

         13  point of view about small schools, and also

         14  individuals that have been involved like yourself,

         15  initiating small schools, and also criticizing I

         16  guess the fast ramping up of schools, and especially

         17  the quotes that you had of Debbie Meier and others

         18  concerning this, it's very, very important to hear

         19  that. So, thank you both for coming in.

         20                 MR. BLOOMFIELD: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Let me

         22  acknowledge my colleague Bill DeBlasio of Brooklyn

         23  has joined us, and now we hear from Leonie Haimson

         24  and Sandra Hogan. Is Sandra here? Okay, Leonie

         25  Haimson.
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          2                 MS. HAIMSON: Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Class Size

          4  Matters.

          5                 MS. HAIMSON: I'll start. I just

          6  wanted to comment on a couple of things first that

          7  Bob Hughes said, about Kennedy High School in

          8  particular had a very valuable automotive repair

          9  program that Sam Friedman wrote about in the New

         10  York Times that had a waiting list I think for two

         11  years that not only kept kids in that school but

         12  guaranteed them a good-paying job when they

         13  graduated, and despite pleas from the students

         14  themselves and the leader of that program that was

         15  publicized in the New York Times that program was

         16  eliminated to make space for the new small schools

         17  within it. I don't really consider that under-used

         18  or not properly utilized space.

         19                 Secondly, on the claim about

         20  graduation rates, which I looked at rather

         21  extensively, to say that kids were discharged to GED

         22  programs should not be counted in one's graduation

         23  rate, is something that would not be backed by the

         24  State or the federal government, nor any other

         25  independent agency that looks at graduation rates.
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          2  Those kids should be counted as well, the graduation

          3  rate should be adjusted downward accordingly.

          4                 I'm not going to go into the WestEd

          5  report, despite what David said, there are a lot of

          6  problems with it, but I think we can look back to

          7  the Policy Studies Associates Report that was

          8  released about a year and a half ago.

          9                 They looked at the background data on

         10  the kids that were accepted at these schools, and

         11  found that uniformly they had better grades, better

         12  attendance records, better test scores, and then we

         13  know about the situation with ELLs and Special Ed

         14  students, which I won't even go into here.

         15                 Our main concern however, is the

         16  issue of class size. All students in our public

         17  schools receive the smaller classes they need. In

         18  the first year of the PSA evaluation, they noted

         19  that class size at the larger high schools averaged

         20  30 students or more, class sizes at most of the new

         21  schools, small schools were 13 and 20. Students at

         22  the new schools attributed their success to the fact

         23  that their teachers were able to know them well,

         24  give them individualized instruction and provide

         25  lots of attention in and out of class.
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          2                 The fact that these schools provided

          3  much smaller classes was noted by students

          4  themselves in surveys as their most valuable

          5  quality.

          6                 We now have official DOE class size

          7  data to back that up, showing that, for example, at

          8  Pelham Prep, which has an openly selective

          9  admissions process, class sizes range from 22 to 24,

         10  compared to 27 to 28 at Columbus High School at

         11  which it is located and has many more low-achieving

         12  students.

         13                 Similarly, high school for teaching

         14  and professions have class sizes ranging from 20 to

         15  25, compared to host school Walton, which has

         16  classes of 29 in most subjects, even though it has

         17  been failing for many years.

         18                 The smaller classes, as well as the

         19  administrative and cluster spaces needed by every

         20  new school put increased pressures on the system as

         21  a whole, which is already severely overcrowded as a

         22  result, noted by the PSA study. Many of the host or

         23  neighboring schools are now operating at 150 percent

         24  capacity or more, since the number of ninth graders

         25  entering the new schools did not match the number of
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          2  ninth graders being turned away.

          3                 In the report, both teachers and

          4  principals commented on the hostility from staff and

          5  students at the host schools that followed.

          6                 According to them, the tension

          7  stemmed from host schools being overcrowded, and

          8  resent them having to give up resources and space.

          9  Clearly the fact that most of these schools later

         10  became impact schools was not coincidental.

         11                 And then I want to go into just very

         12  quickly, the question is not whether these schools

         13  do better, which I think they do, even though the

         14  graduation figures are not reliable, if you take

         15  stronger students and give them smaller classes, I

         16  don't think it should be surprising that they do

         17  better. The better questions to ask are the

         18  following: Is this initiative equitable, has it met

         19  the systemwide improvements, and is it sustainable

         20  over the long run?

         21                 I think we can now conclude it is not

         22  equitable if lower-achieving Special Ed and ELL

         23  students are being left out and facing more

         24  overcrowded conditions as a result. Has it led to

         25  systemwide improvements? The evidence is not clear.
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          2  DOE claims rise in graduation rates of 58 percent,

          3  the State Ed reports this graduation rate is closer

          4  to 43 percent.

          5                 In addition, attendance rates

          6  continue to fall systemwide, and discharge and

          7  suspension rates have increased sharply over the

          8  last four years.

          9                 Is it sustainable? Indeed at this

         10  point there is not even an explicit plan on the part

         11  of this Administration to ensure that the smaller

         12  class is provided by the smaller schools will

         13  survive.

         14                 As a recent professional evaluation

         15  of these schools observed, budget pressures and the

         16  lack of sufficient planning led to sharp increases

         17  in class sizes at two-thirds of the schools they

         18  studied in their second and third years which

         19  severely undermine their ability to succeed, and if

         20  you look at the hand-out from the New Visions, you

         21  can see that the classes lower down are not

         22  progressing at the same rate, and if you look at the

         23  class size data, the class sizes in the ninth grade

         24  are bigger than the class sizes in the 12th grade.

         25                 Most importantly what about the
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          2  majority of New York City students who would

          3  continue to attend our larger high schools?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Leonie, can you

          5  wrap up, please?

          6                 MR. HAIMSON: As the class size in the

          7  small schools appear to be their most successful

          8  elements without a plan to eventually provide them

          9  to smaller classes to all the schools, high school

         10  students throughout the system, it is hard to see

         11  how their opportunities will ever be improved, so

         12  that this will continue to be a zero sum game with

         13  worst conditions that those students left behind.

         14                 I would be remiss if I didn't mention

         15  the fact that in the State Assembly legislation is

         16  going to be introduced that would require smaller

         17  classes across the board for all high school

         18  students, and that the capital plan be amended

         19  accordingly. And I hope that the City Council will

         20  support this legislation so that all our high school

         21  students, whether they are in small classes or large

         22  will be able to get the class sizes that they need

         23  and deserve.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, thank you,
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          2  again, for representing your organization. You are

          3  clearly an advocate out in the field.

          4                 Next we hear from Bernard Hanisch,

          5  representing himself, and John Lawhead, New York

          6  Immigration Advocates, and Kevin Jackson from 100

          7  Black Men, Inc., and Socheatta Meng. I may have

          8  messed up your name. Please come forward. Sit up

          9  front and get ready to move forward, okay? Thank

         10  you.

         11                 Bernard?

         12                 MR. HANISCH: Hanisch.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Representing

         14  yourself?

         15                 MR. HANISCH: Myself. Most probably

         16  students who fail to graduate don't graduate because

         17  they're unprepared when they get into high school.

         18  Now, by unprepared, I mean they do not meet the

         19  eighth grade standards either in English or math or

         20  both.

         21                 If they cannot read and comprehend,

         22  if their reading and comprehension is poor, how are

         23  they going to meet the requirements of high school?

         24  Unlikely.

         25                 Now, I have my report that I gave you
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          2  and everybody in the Council, and I want to review

          3  quickly, eighth grade ELA results.

          4                 In the Year 2000, 66.5 percent met

          5  standards, then in the following years we had 63

          6  points, 65.2, 64.8, 67.8, 65.1, 65.6. That means

          7  approximately 65 percent of the graduating students

          8  in District 26, the best district by far, meets

          9  standards. One out of three do not meet standards.

         10                 Now, if one out of three do not meet

         11  standards, the best school in the best district we

         12  have, the rest of the districts are far worse. Now,

         13  what I saw is in these new schools, that's why I

         14  decided to speak, had a graduation rate of 78

         15  percent. Well, if all the students from District 26

         16  was in one of these schools, assuming that everyone

         17  that met standards in the eighth grade graduated,

         18  and say some of the students in level two or level

         19  one, some of them graduated, so we have maybe 70, 75

         20  percent of the students from District 26 graduating

         21  on time.

         22                 But these schools don't have District

         23  26 students, they have students at random in the

         24  City. How could they get 78 percent? That's why I

         25  decided to speak. How could this be? Well, I'm not
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          2  questioning the 78 percent, but I am questioning how

          3  so many graduated.

          4                 Well, I taught high school one year.

          5  I'm not going to divulge the high school, and this

          6  is a part of the reason, maybe a good part of the

          7  reason: in order to pass high school today you have

          8  to pass five Regents, one of them being the Math A

          9  Regents. Here's what happened when I was there in

         10  the Math A Regents: Not everybody can mark the

         11  Regents, only those teachers who are generous,

         12  generous marking. If you're a fair marker, you don't

         13  mark the Regents. So, in part one, with short answer

         14  questions, those questions are put through a

         15  machine, teachers are not involved. But in parts

         16  two, three and four, the teacher is grading. If

         17  you're generous, and you should get nothing, you got

         18  one point or even two points, a couple of points

         19  here, a couple of points there, and this adds up.

         20                 Now, to get 55, a passing grade of

         21  55, here is how it's done: The most you can get, a

         22  raw score is 84. Eighty-four percent, that's the

         23  highest. Not 100, 84. If you get 26, a raw score of

         24  26 points, that's 26 divided by 84 times 100 is 31

         25  percent. When I went to school, I would have got 31
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          2  percent. That 31 percent is scaled up to 55, you

          3  passed the Regents.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Sir, you've got

          5  to wrap up. This is not really about the Regents.

          6                 MR. HANISCH: I understand that. But

          7  what I'm saying is, I think that a good part of this

          8  78 percent is due to inflated grades.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         10                 MR. HANISCH: That's my point.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you very

         12  much.

         13                 John Lawhead, the New York

         14  Immigration Advocates.

         15                 MR. LAWHEAD: Hi. I'm John Lawhead.

         16  I'm a teacher, ESL teacher at Samuel J. Tilden High

         17  School in East Flatbush, Brooklyn. I want to thank

         18  you, Chairman Jackson, for having these oversight

         19  hearings. And I want to thank the New York

         20  Immigration Coalition for inviting me to be part of

         21  their contingent here.

         22                 I've been a teacher in the City

         23  schools, City high schools for 11 years, and I want

         24  to discuss about how the immigrant teenagers in my

         25  school community are being affected by this small
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          2  schools initiative.

          3                 Tilden has a large population of

          4  recently arrived immigrants. We have students from

          5  Latin America, Middle East, Near East, West Africa,

          6  but the vast majority of our students who are

          7  learning English come from Haiti.

          8                 In recent months, since the beginning

          9  of the school year opened, we have taken in between

         10  75 and 80 newly-arrived immigrants. In school

         11  jargon, these are called the over-the-counter

         12  students, and the main part of my teaching schedule

         13  is to spend time with these new students.

         14                 So, to put these issues in a little

         15  bit of context, what's it like being with these

         16  students, and it is a real joy.

         17                 A couple days ago, I went into my

         18  afternoon class, and a group of Haitian students

         19  were standing by the window, and they were

         20  completely entranced to watch snow falling into a

         21  City street. That's silence and reverence, it was

         22  like being in church. And I even started teasing

         23  them a little about their innocence when it came to

         24  being in the winter, in the north. One boy stepped

         25  away from the rest and protested and said "I seen
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          2  snow before some time last week."

          3                 Yesterday the mood had changed. The

          4  students were suddenly sullen about this weather,

          5  they were just as surprised at how quickly the snow

          6  had turned hard and ugly. There was even a sense of

          7  disaster about it, especially when Nancy and Jude,

          8  brother and sister, arrived late for their class,

          9  out of breath. They were still wearing badges,

         10  visitors badges from Kings County Hospital, because

         11  their mother had left early in the morning for work

         12  and fallen and broken her leg, and they were the

         13  ones that took her there.

         14                 I savior knowing these kids, and all

         15  the ups and downs of their early days in the US. I'm

         16  not here to complain about the bad weather their

         17  experiencing, because my students are living the

         18  brave life of immigrants, and they learn fast.

         19                 I want to speak about what this City

         20  is doing to impact them. How do we welcome these

         21  kids? I appreciate that the speaker from the

         22  Immigrants of Children has mentioned we're one

         23  remaining school with bilingual services. I think

         24  it's very important for adolescent kids to use their

         25  native language as a resource, and according to the
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          2  School Quality Review we were doing that

          3  successfully.

          4                 So, the positive thing, just to wrap

          5  it up, we are nicknamed "The school that is not

          6  going quietly." We are speaking at any available

          7  forum, because we believe that educators should

          8  finish what they start, and we're going to -- that's

          9  our promise to these kids, whether they are

         10  thriving, whether they are late bloomers, we're

         11  going to be with them and we're going to advocate to

         12  keep this school open.

         13                 I think it's just a shame. I think

         14  the 500 pound elephant in the room, we're not really

         15  talking about it. This is not a grassroots progress.

         16  This is not -- schools are not being tailored for

         17  the community, none of these schools, the two

         18  schools coming up really did not have a plan for ESL

         19  students, and in fact, they really don't want to be

         20  there. If you interpret their remarks indirectly,

         21  one of them said "I'd rather be in Central Brooklyn"

         22  instead of being pawns in a process of closing

         23  schools to get large, neglected schools off the

         24  books, and it's really a tragedy.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, let me
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          2  thank you both for coming in and expressing your

          3  views, and especially you as a teacher, directly

          4  impacted and directly dealing with the new recent

          5  arrivals and the joy of watching people for the

          6  first time, seeing snow and watching their

          7  expressions and what have you.

          8                 Thank you very much.

          9                 Kevin Jackson, representing 100 Black

         10  Men, Inc., and Ms. Meng from the AALDEF and UCA

         11  Immigration Coalition.

         12                 MR. JACKSON: Good morning, Chairman.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Good afternoon.

         14                 MR. JACKSON: Good afternoon. I am

         15  Kevin Jackson, a member of the 100 Black Men, and

         16  also Executive Director of the Eagle Academy

         17  Foundation. I'm also a professor at New York

         18  University.

         19                 The 100 is a community-based

         20  organization of professionals with a four-decade

         21  record of mentoring civic involvement and leadership

         22  in public education.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Pull your mic a

         24  little closer, please.

         25                 MR. JACKSON: Sorry.
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          2                 The issues surrounding the creation

          3  and support of small schools are of particular

          4  concern to our organization.

          5                 Large urban schools have historically

          6  not served our children or our communities well.

          7  They have provided limited opportunities for

          8  individualized instruction or attention to the needs

          9  of the individual child. This is true for all

         10  children, but particularly damaging to black and

         11  Latino children, who seem to fall off the radar in

         12  large schools in New York City, in particular.

         13                 The small school movement has offered

         14  a refreshing alternative to our students and their

         15  families, quite frankly.

         16                 Statistics have shown that many black

         17  and Hispanic children, educated in large high

         18  schools remain unprepared for the academic rigor of

         19  college. The data clearly and distinctly shows a

         20  pattern of low graduation rates for our youngsters

         21  and high drop-out rates.

         22                 We are painfully aware of the

         23  numbers, there are more black men in prison than in

         24  college. I, as a professor at NYU, I don't see very

         25  many black men or Latino men in my classes in the
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          2  master's program. Many that do graduate from high

          3  school are often ill-prepared for the rigors and

          4  challenges of college. The graduation rate of black

          5  men is lower than that of any other demographic

          6  group, even though this problem is

          7  disproportionately apparent in the black youth, it

          8  is endemic to all men of color in urban communities,

          9  and particularly to all under-served youth,

         10  regardless of color.

         11                 This concerns us. Young men of color

         12  who are no longer the minority comprise a large

         13  group that consistently lags behind in their peers

         14  in wealth, social status and academic success.

         15                 Small schools provide a means to

         16  address a high level of dysfunction that has plagued

         17  many communities around the City. What we found at

         18  the high school level is that so many of our kids

         19  come to high school with such a high level of social

         20  and academic dysfunction, that we really do need to

         21  start early. Small schools provide a forum where we

         22  can do this.

         23                 In addition, the destruction of

         24  additional families has really provided a forum

         25  where children don't feel part of a community. The
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          2  drugs and crime in their community impact the

          3  ability of our young people to make sound

          4  responsible decisions about their future. For many

          5  young men in particular, coping with the challenges

          6  of negative peer pressure and basic survival often

          7  take precedence over the values required for

          8  success, or their sense of belonging to positive

          9  communities.

         10                 Small schools provide communities for

         11  these young people where teachers and administrators

         12  address them by name. There is a tremendous amount

         13  of significance in that for our young people. It's a

         14  shame that we don't have young people here to

         15  testify before you. I'd love to have some of the

         16  youngsters from the South Bronx, who are students at

         17  the Eagle Academy, speak to you about their

         18  experiences.

         19                 This, too, provides an effective

         20  forum for learning. As a founding community partner

         21  for the Eagle Academy for Young Men, a small school

         22  in the South Bronx, we have witnessed at the

         23  grassroots level how these schools provide an

         24  environment which fosters learning, and invites

         25  parents and teachers into a whole community that's
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          2  working toward providing academic excellence for our

          3  students.

          4                 Because of the small school movement

          5  in New York City, this is happening on a scale that

          6  as we've never seen before. At the Eagle Academy for

          7  Young Men, through smaller classes, one-on-one

          8  mentoring, creating a community that fosters

          9  academic excellence, we've achieved over 90 percent

         10  pass rate in the New York State Regents in

         11  mathematics, science, history, over 100 percent

         12  involvement of parents in school activities,

         13  increasing community activism and volunteerism, and

         14  teachers engaged in a real way in professional

         15  development at all levels.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Can you wrap up,

         17  please?

         18                 MR. JACKSON: Yes.

         19                 We've also sent kids to study abroad.

         20  We have a comprehensive program in place for college

         21  exposure, through corporate partnerships, and we're

         22  truly providing a high-impact education to our young

         23  people who have traditionally been disenfranchised

         24  from the educational system. The 100 Black Men would

         25  like to applaud the Mayor and the Chancellor for
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          2  innovative efforts and tremendous level of support

          3  for the small school effort.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you. Do we

          5  have your testimony?

          6                 MR. JACKSON: Yes, you do.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: We do, okay.

          8                 Please pronounce your first name.

          9                 MS. MENG: Socheatta.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Socheatta Meng.

         11  Please go ahead.

         12                 MS. MENG: Good afternoon. My name is

         13  Socheatta Meng. I am a law student intern. I am here

         14  on behalf of Khin Mai Aung.  She's a staff attorney

         15  at the Asian-American Legal Defense and Education

         16  Fund, and also on behalf of Steve Chung, President

         17  of the United Chinese Association of Brooklyn. They

         18  couldn't make it today, and they wanted me to read

         19  their statements into evidence.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         21                 MS. MENG: Our offices do a lot of

         22  work with Lafayette High School. Under a federal

         23  consent decree, Lafayette is legally obligated to

         24  provide continuing treatment to ELL students.

         25  Lafayette will be phased out into three small
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          2  schools and we have concerns about the phase-out.

          3                 The following is a statement of Khin

          4  Mai Aung. My name is Khin Mai Aung, and I am a staff

          5  attorney at the Asian American Legal Defense and

          6  Education Fund, where I work on issues of education,

          7  equity and youth rights.

          8                 I am here to testify about the

          9  Department of Education continuing failure to

         10  adequately serve English Language Learner students

         11  in small schools.

         12                 Founded in 1974, AALDEF protects the

         13  civil rights of Asian-Americans through litigation,

         14  legal advocacy and community education.

         15                 AALDEF's Educational Equity and Youth

         16  Rights Project focuses on kindergarten through 12th

         17  grade public education.

         18                 Among other things, AALDEF works in

         19  partnership with local community partners and

         20  student organizers to monitor the DOE's enforcement

         21  of a federal consent decree protecting the rights of

         22  Asian-American and other ELL students at Lafayette

         23  High School, which will soon be phased out into

         24  three small schools.

         25                 I am deeply concerned that the
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          2  schools which DOE has selected for placement at

          3  Lafayette will find programs in their own right,

          4  will neither have the ability to serve nor to draw

          5  ELL students from Bensonhurst or throughout New York

          6  City.

          7                 This not only implicates continuing

          8  legal obligations under the Lafayette High School

          9  Consent Decree, but exacerbates an existing gap in

         10  enrollment of ELLs in our small schools.

         11                 Despite the many ways that Lafayette

         12  High School has failed to serve its ELL population,

         13  it is legally required to provide baseline English

         14  as a Second Language, bilingual education,

         15  interpretation and translation, and other support

         16  services to a large vibrant and diverse ELL student

         17  population.

         18                 This population will not be able to

         19  access comparable services at the new schools

         20  currently selected to replace Lafayette.

         21                 As such, we hope you will join us in

         22  calling for the DOE to reconsider its small school

         23  selections for the Lafayette site in favor of a

         24  proposed international school.

         25                 Further, the DOE must work with the
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          2  other small schools housed at Lafayette, and

          3  throughout the City to help them attract, retain and

          4  serve ELL and other Special Needs students.

          5                 Khin Mai Aung, Staff Attorney,

          6  Asian-American Legal Defense and Education Fund.

          7                 And this is a statement from Steve

          8  Chung, President of the United Chinese Association

          9  of Brooklyn.

         10                 My name is Steve Chung and I am the

         11  President of the United Chinese Association in

         12  Brooklyn. I would like to testify about a recent

         13  failure of the Department of Education's Small

         14  Schools Initiative to address the needs of immigrant

         15  and English Language Learner communities.

         16                 My organization, the United Chinese

         17  Association, Brooklyn, UCA, provides advocacy and

         18  social services for immigrant Asian children and

         19  families in Bensonhurst, Brooklyn.

         20                 Among other things, we have been

         21  active in advocating for the rights of Asian

         22  students at Lafayette High School which will be

         23  replaced by three small schools starting this fall.

         24  I believe that the neighborhood which is served by

         25  Lafayette High School has a great majority of
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          2  immigrant families and children, who are classified

          3  as "English Language Learners." Over 40 percent of

          4  the existing students in Lafayette High School are

          5  children of immigrant families whose children are

          6  English Language Learners.

          7                 Despite these facts, the DOE,

          8  contrary to the publicly expressed wishes of the

          9  community, has selected new schools focusing on

         10  sports, film making and troubled youth, none of

         11  which is likely to serve the needs of, nor attract

         12  the children of the many immigrant families of the

         13  neighborhood, or throughout New York City, including

         14  Caribbean, Chinese, Hispanic, Indian, Italian,

         15  Pakistani and Russian families.

         16                 This is something that must be

         17  addressed immediately. On Tuesday, February 20th, my

         18  organization is joining with community members and

         19  advocacy groups to speak out against this decision

         20  in front of DOE headquarters at Tweed Hall, 52

         21  Chambers Street.

         22                 We hope to convince the DOE to change

         23  course and implement a school that meets not only

         24  the immediate needs of Bensonhurst's diverse

         25  immigrant community, but those of immigrant and
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          2  English language learners throughout New York City.

          3                 Yours truly, Steve Chung, President

          4  of United Chinese Association in Brooklyn.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Mr. Jackson, let

          7  me ask you, as far as, you're the ED of the Eagle

          8  Academy, and how long has the Eagle Academy been in

          9  operation?

         10                 MR. JACKSON: I am actually the

         11  Executive Director of the Eagle Academy Foundation.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Foundation.

         13                 MR. JACKSON: Yes. We've established a

         14  separate 501(c)(3) to support the work of the 100

         15  relating to Eagle Academy beyond New Visions.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         17                 So, with respects to, I assume you

         18  know a little bit about the Eagle Academy School?

         19                 MR. JACKSON: Absolutely.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: How many

         21  students do you have in that school currently?

         22                 MR. JACKSON: We currently have about

         23  340 students.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And this is what

         25  year of operation?
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          2                 MR. JACKSON: We're in our third year.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Third year.

          4                 And how many -- you've heard, you've

          5  been sitting here most of the testimony, and you've

          6  heard the testimony by many individuals, including

          7  some of the questions that I've asked, that have

          8  been prepared by my staff, regarding children with

          9  special needs and ELL students, are you facing that

         10  problem at Eagle Academy? Or what is your

         11  population? Is your population black males, or is it

         12  males, females or what?

         13                 MR. JACKSON: Our --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: What's your

         15  diversity?

         16                 MR. JACKSON: Our population is

         17  generally representative of the demographic of the

         18  community. Even though we have students from Queens

         19  and Brooklyn, whatever.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Where are you

         21  located at?

         22                 MR. JACKSON: On 163rd Street in the

         23  South Bronx.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And where? 163rd

         25  and where?
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          2                 MR. JACKSON: Right off of the Grand

          3  Concourse.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Of the Grand

          5  Concourse.

          6                 What is it to break down male/female,

          7  how many?

          8                 MR. JACKSON: We are an all boy

          9  school.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: All boy.

         11                 What about English Language Learners

         12  or children with special needs; do you have any

         13  idea?

         14                 MR. JACKSON: I know we have English

         15  Language Learners. We have about 50 percent, 52

         16  percent Hispanic population in the school, and 40

         17  something percent black because of the demographic

         18  of the school.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         20                 MR. JACKSON: I know that we have

         21  English Language Learners at the school, however,

         22  I'm not prepared to indicate --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Because I heard

         24  your testimony and, you know, this hearing is to

         25  hear everything about small schools and small
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          2  schools versus the big schools, this, that and the

          3  other, and obviously your testimony was very

          4  important in hearing from your perspective as the ED

          5  of the Eagle Academy Foundation, which is the arm

          6  that is supporting the actual school. But knowing in

          7  a context of what we've heard in all the testimony

          8  today, I was just curious as to the situation at

          9  your particular school.

         10                 MR. JACKSON: Something that struck me

         11  is one of your questions regarding the selection

         12  process of students. We're faced with that all the

         13  time. People ask us, do you actually exclude

         14  students? Actually, you know, I've been on a

         15  Committee to interview students for that process,

         16  and the only requirement that we have with students

         17  is that they express an interest and a buy-in to

         18  what we set forth as to the mission of the Eagle

         19  Academy.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And what is that

         21  mission, sir?

         22                 MR. JACKSON: We have six principles.

         23  It's based on character, commitment to academic

         24  excellence, commitment to community service, because

         25  we want the students involved, a commitment to
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          2  mentoring, not only are the students required to

          3  mention each other, but the students are actually

          4  assigned a male mentor.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Of 100 Blacks in

          6  Law Enforcement?

          7                 MR. JACKSON: No. Actually, initially

          8  we started with just 100 Black Men, but we have a

          9  lot of corporate partners.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         11                 MR. JACKSON: We have about 80 mentors

         12  from the Bronx DA's office, of all colors and

         13  persuasion. And I mean, the focus is really on

         14  character development marrying character and

         15  integrity to the scholarship to academic excellence.

         16  So, that's really what they have to agree to buy

         17  into.

         18                 Very often we'll have parents because

         19  we received a lot of publicity, who bring their

         20  students, and I want my son to be an Eagle. But we

         21  exclude the child because the student has to make

         22  that decision. We don't base the selection on

         23  academic excellence. We want to create equals. So,

         24  we have a lot of students who require -- I mean,

         25  come into the high school with a very large level of
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          2  dysfunction, and we're learning that we have to deal

          3  with that. We weren't prepared to deal with that,

          4  quite frankly.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And as a partner

          6  to the school, as a sponsor, how much money has the

          7  foundation put towards the school in the past? You

          8  said three years it's been up and running or two

          9  years?

         10                 MR. JACKSON: About $400,000.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: $400,000.

         12                 Ms. Meng, you're here representing

         13  the AALDEF, the Asian-American Legal Defense and

         14  Education Fund, and the UCA, United Chinese

         15  Association of Brooklyn, and you said that you're

         16  going to be holding a rally in front of the Tweed,

         17  the Department of Education; when is that again?

         18                 MS. MENG: It says here February 20th

         19  on Tuesday.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Tuesday. Because

         21  basically I heard you in the testimony, reading the

         22  testimony for the two individuals that you're

         23  representing, the Department of Education wants to

         24  place three small schools there, I believe, if you

         25  said? Sports?
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          2                 MS. MENG: It says here "focusing on

          3  sports, film making and troubled youth."

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Those are the

          5  three different schools. And it appears as though

          6  you're saying that members of the community, and

          7  community groups, along with the United Chinese

          8  Association of Brooklyn, and AALDEF and others, want

          9  to have a school, the international school is it?

         10                 MS. MENG: Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: What would be

         12  the focus of the international school?

         13                 MS. MENG: I'm sorry, to be honest I

         14  don't know enough about this issue to speak to it.

         15  But I do have the contact information of both Steve

         16  Chung and Mai Aung, if you want to ask them

         17  questions.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, yes, I

         19  know. But it's basically focusing on the needs of

         20  immigrants and what have you, in that area of

         21  Brooklyn; is that correct?

         22                 MS. MENG: I think so. But to be

         23  honest, I'm not sure. I was put on this project late

         24  last night, so...

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, let me
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          2  thank you for coming in, representing your group.

          3  And Mr. Jackson, thank you for coming in

          4  representing your group.

          5                 Are there any individuals that are

          6  here that did not have the opportunity to speak?

          7                 With that, let me thank all of the

          8  speakers for coming in and representing yourself

          9  and/or organizations. I think that this has been a

         10  hearing where we have fleshed out the issues of

         11  small schools under the subject of the hearing today

         12  which is"Oversight. The Department of Education's

         13  Small School Initiative: Issues and Concerns." And

         14  let me just thank all of the staff that have been

         15  working so hard to ensure that we were ready for

         16  today, and we've been doing such a great job, my

         17  Counsel, Scherazade Salimi. Not my Counsel, the

         18  Counsel to the Education Committee; Jan Atwell;

         19  Jennifer Culp, Regina Poreda-Ryan and Anthony

         20  Hoegbe.

         21                 With that ladies and gents, it is now

         22  almost 1:45 p.m., and we started approximately 10:00

         23  a.m. Let me thank you all for coming, and I'll call

         24  this meeting adjourned.

         25                 (The following written testimony was
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          2  read into the record.)

          3

          4

          5  KEVIN JACKSON

          6  MEMBER

          7  ONE HUNDRED BLACK MEN, INC.

          8  EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

          9  THE EAGLE ACADEMY FOUNDATION

         10

         11                 Good Morning.  I am Kevin Jackson, a

         12  member of the One Hundred Black Men, and Executive

         13  Director of the Eagle Academy Foundation.  The One

         14  Hundred is a community-based organization of

         15  professionals with a four-decade record of

         16  mentoring, civic involvement and leadership in

         17  public education.

         18                 The issues surrounding the creation

         19  and support of small schools are of particular

         20  concern to our organization.  Large urban schools

         21  have historically not served our children or our

         22  communities well.  They have provided limited

         23  opportunities for individualized instruction, or

         24  attention to the needs of the individual child.

         25  This is true for all children, but particularly
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          2  damaging to Black and Latino children who seem to

          3  fall off the radar in the large high schools of New

          4  York.  The small school movement has offered a

          5  refreshing alternative to our students and their

          6  families.

          7                 Statistics have shown that many Black

          8  and Hispanic students educated in large  high

          9  schools remain unprepared for the academic rigor

         10  required for success.  The data clearly and

         11  consistently depicts a pattern of low graduation and

         12  high dropout rates for Black and Hispanic students.

         13  We are all painfully aware of the numbers.

         14                 Many that do graduate from large high

         15  schools are often ill- prepared for the rigors and

         16  challenges of college.  The graduation rate of Black

         17  men is lower than that of any other demographic

         18  group.  Even though this problem is

         19  disproportionately apparent in Black youth, it is

         20  endemic to all men of color in urban communities.

         21  Young men of color, no longer the minority, comprise

         22  a group that consistently lags behind their peers in

         23  wealth, social status and academic success.  Small

         24  schools provide a means to address the high level of

         25  dysfunction that has plagued many communities around
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          2  the City.

          3                 In addition, the destruction of the

          4  traditional family structure coupled with the

          5  influence of drugs and crime in their communities

          6  impact the ability of many of our young people to

          7  make sound responsible decisions about their

          8  futures.  For many young men in particular, coping

          9  with the challenges of negative peer- pressure and

         10  basic survival often take precedence over the values

         11  required for success or their sense of belonging to

         12  positive communities.  Small schools provide

         13  communities for these young people where teachers

         14  and administrators address them by their names, and

         15  the schools become an extension of the family.  This

         16  too, provides an effective forum for learning.

         17                 As the founding Community Partner for

         18  the Eagle Academy for Young Men, a small school in

         19  the South Bronx, we have witnessed at the grass

         20  roots level, how these schools provide an

         21  environment which fosters learning; provide

         22  students, parents and teachers with a sense of

         23  community; and are "incubators" for academic

         24  excellence, parental involvement and professional

         25  development of our teachers in a nurturing
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          2  environment.  Because of the small school movement

          3  in New York City this is happening on a scale that

          4  the nation has never seen before.

          5                 At the Eagle Academy for Young Men,

          6  through smaller classes, one-on-one mentoring and by

          7  creating a community that fosters academic

          8  excellence we have achieved:

          9                 Over 90 percent pass rates of the NYS

         10  Mathematics, Science and History Regents

         11                 Nearly 100 percent involvement of

         12  Parents in School

         13                 An increase in student/community

         14  volunteers.

         15                 We have a comprehensive program in

         16  place to expose these youngsters to college, forming

         17  strategic partnerships with NYU and Columbia

         18  University.

         19                 Through partnerships with our

         20  corporate community, we've sent students to travel

         21  and study abroad, providing a forum for tolerance

         22  and understanding of other cultures.

         23                 Teachers engaged in professional

         24  development on all levels.

         25                 We are truly providing high impact
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          2  education for our young people who have

          3  traditionally been disenfranchised from the

          4  educational system.  The One Hundred Black Men would

          5  like to applaud the Mayor and the Chancellor on

          6  their innovative efforts and tremendous level of

          7  support for the small school movement.  We truly

          8  believe that this effort is making a difference in

          9  the lives of children all over the City.  Thank you.

         10

         11  TESTIMONY READ INTO THE RECORD

         12  KHIN MAI AUNG

         13  STAFF ATTORNEY

         14  ASIAN AMERICAN LEGAL DEFENSE AND EDUCATION FUND

         15

         16                 My name is Khin Mai Aung, and I am a

         17  staff attorney at the Asian American Legal Defense

         18  and Education Fund (AALDEF) where I work on issues

         19  of educational equity and youth rights.  I am here

         20  to testify about the Department of Education's (DOE)

         21  continuing failure to adequately serve English

         22  Language Learner (ELL) students in its small

         23  schools.

         24                 Founded in 1974, AALDEF protects and

         25  promotes the civil rights of Asian Americans through
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          2  litigation, legal advocacy and community education.

          3  AALDEF's educational equity and youth rights project

          4  focuses on kindergarten through twelfth grade public

          5  education.  Among other things, AALDEF works in

          6  partnership with local community partners and

          7  student organizers to monitor the DOEs enforcement

          8  of a federal Consent Decree protecting the rights of

          9  Asian American and other ELL students at Lafayette

         10  High School, which will soon be phased out into

         11  three small schools.

         12                 I am deeply concerned that the

         13  schools which DOE has selected for placement at

         14  Lafayette, while fine programs in their own right,

         15  will neither have the ability to serve nor to draw

         16  ELL students from Bensonhurst or throughout New York

         17  City.  This not only implicates continuing legal

         18  obligations under the Lafayette High School Consent

         19  Decree, but exacerbates an existing gap in

         20  enrollment of ELLs in our small schools. Despite the

         21  many ways that Lafayette High School has failed to

         22  serve its ELL population, it is legally required to

         23  provide baseline English as a Second Language,

         24  bilingual education, interpretation and translation,

         25  and other support services to a large, vibrant, and
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          2  diverse ELL student population.  This population

          3  will not be able to access comparable services at

          4  the new schools currently selected to replace

          5  Lafayette.

          6                 As such, we hope you will join us in

          7  calling for the DOE to reconsider its small school

          8  selections for the Lafayette site in favor of a

          9  proposed international school.  Further, the DOE

         10  must work with the other small schools housed at

         11  Lafayette and throughout the City to help them

         12  attract, retain and serve ELL and other special

         13  needs students.

         14

         15  STEVE CHUNG

         16  PRESIDENT

         17  UNITED CHINESE ASSOCIATION OF BROOKLYN

         18

         19                 My name is Steve Chung and I am the

         20  President of the United Chinese Association of

         21  Brooklyn.  I would like to testify about a recent

         22  failure of the Department of Education's (DOE) Small

         23  Schools Initiative to address the needs of immigrant

         24  and English Language Learner communities.  My

         25  organization, the United Chinese Association of
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          2  Brooklyn (UCA) provides advocacy and social services

          3  for immigrant Asian children and families in

          4  Bensonhurst, Brooklyn. Among other things, we have

          5  been active in advocating for the rights of Asian

          6  students at Lafayette High School, which will be

          7  replaced by three small schools starting this fall.

          8                 I believe that the neighborhood which

          9  is served by Lafayette High School has a great

         10  majority of immigrant families, and children who are

         11  classified as English Language Learners.  Over forty

         12  percent of the existing students in Lafayette High

         13  School are children of immigrant families whose

         14  children are English Language Learners.

         15                 Despite these facts the DOE, contrary

         16  to the publicly expressed wishes of the community

         17  has selected new schools focusing on sports, film-

         18  making and troubled youths, none of which is likely

         19  to serve the needs of nor attract the children of

         20  the many immigrant families of the neighborhood or

         21  throughout New York City, including Caribbean,

         22  Chinese, Hispanic, Indian, Italian, Pakistani and

         23  Russian families.

         24                 This is something that must be

         25  addressed immediately.  On Tuesday February 20, my
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          2  organization is joining with community members and

          3  advocacy groups to speak out against this decision

          4  in front of DOE headquarters at Tweed Hall, 52

          5  Chambers Street.  We hope to convince the DOE to

          6  change course and implement a school that meets not

          7  only the immediate needs of Bensonhurst's diverse

          8  immigrant community but those of immigrant and

          9  English Language Learners throughout New York City.

         10

         11  TESTIMONY WRITTEN INTO THE RECORD

         12  PHUONG NGUYEN

         13  PROJECT DIRECTOR

         14  CIVIC LEADERSHIP ACADEMY OF QUEENS

         15

         16                 My name is Phuong Nguyen, and I am

         17  the Project Director for the Civic Leadership

         18  Academy, a secondary school in Queens that will open

         19  in September.  I was a special education teacher for

         20  ten years before becoming a mentor for beginning

         21  teachers for two years.  I began working on the

         22  creation of this school a year and a half ago when I

         23  decided to apply to my principal training program,

         24  New Leaders for New Schools.  I chose this national

         25  organization because one of their primary focus was
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          2  to support the creation of exemplary small urban

          3  schools characterized by high expectations and

          4  student achievement.  New Leaders introduced me to

          5  New Visions for Public Schools, an intermediary with

          6  distinguished record of supporting the opening of

          7  over 80 New Century High Schools in New York City.

          8  Not only did New Visions help guide and support me

          9  through the process of developing a school plan, but

         10  they were instrumental in connecting me with my lead

         11  partner, the Child Center of New York.

         12                 The Civic Leadership Academy offers a

         13  college preparatory program with an emphasis on

         14  youth development through service learning.  We

         15  selected service learning as our focus after

         16  conducting an informal poll of middle and high

         17  school students.  We found that service learning

         18  addressed many of the wishes of these students, who

         19  wanted to understand the relevance of their

         20  learning, have opportunities to engage with their

         21  community through internships and service and have a

         22  voice on what they learned and how they learned.

         23                 When Child Center came on board, they

         24  helped us broaden our view of service learning to be

         25  a conduit for youth development and collaborated
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          2  with us to create the position of the youth

          3  Development Coordinator, a fully certified social

          4  worker who would help teachers infuse an assets-

          5  based approach to their instruction and help

          6  identify service learning opportunities within the

          7  community.  The YDC would also supervise two social

          8  work interns who would assist in supporting the

          9  emotional needs of our students and conducting

         10  attendance and parent outreach, among other things.

         11                 In addition, the Child Center

         12  oversees three Beacon Centers in Region three and

         13  will work to bring some of the afterschool

         14  programming to the school.  We are very excited by

         15  our partnership with the Child Center and feel that

         16  with their support, we will offer students a

         17  personalized, college preparatory program with a

         18  real world context that would allow them to explore

         19  and embrace their roles and responsibilities as

         20  contributing members of their community.  We know

         21  that we will have done our job well if in seven

         22  years, most of our concerns center on helping

         23  students make the best college choice for them.

         24                 The Civic Leadership Academy is

         25  committed to serving the children of the Forest
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          2  Hills and Rego Park community.  We offer the

          3  community another option in middle school, and

          4  eventually in high school.  We will work with Region

          5  three and the Office of Student Enrollment to create

          6  an application process that is fair and makes sense.

          7    We do not have a policy of screening and are

          8  committed to educating all the students who are

          9  enrolled in our school.  Since we believe strongly

         10  that all children can achieve, we applied for both

         11  the ELL grant and Special Education grant offered by

         12  the Department of Education.  We received the ELL

         13  grant, and have already begun to design the ELS

         14  program. We are in the process of visiting schools

         15  with effective ESL programs, talking with experts in

         16  the field, and using the resources of New Visions,

         17  New Leaders and the Child Center to ensure that the

         18  program we put in place will best suit the needs of

         19  our students.  With the ELL grant, we will be able

         20  to hire a full-time ESL teacher, provide ongoing

         21  professional development for all our teachers in

         22  effective ELS methodologies, conduct

         23  parent-education workshops in different languages,

         24  and explore a collaborative teaching model for ELS.

         25  My experience with teaching special education
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          2  students and being an ELL student myself tells me

          3  that we can meet the needs of all learners if we

          4  provide the necessary supports for students,

          5  teachers, and families.

          6                 The process of developing a new

          7  school has been an interesting experience.  One of

          8  the most valuable takeaways for me, thus far, has

          9  been the opportunities to interact with other

         10  Project Directors who are opening new schools.

         11  Being able to share ideas and listen to the

         12  perspectives of people who are undergoing the same

         13  process has been beneficial in many ways.  Not only

         14  do we provide a network of support and resource for

         15  each other, but our interactions have pushed my own

         16  thinking about different aspects of education, and

         17  have enriched the conversations that my planning

         18  team and I have as we work to make our school a

         19  reality.

         20                 I want to end this testimony by

         21  thanking the Department of Education for giving us

         22  this opportunity to bring our dream school to life.

         23

         24  TESTIMONY WRITTEN INTO THE RECORD

         25  MAE LEE
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          2  EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

          3  CHINESE PROGRESSIVE ASSOCIATION

          4  MANHATTAN, CHINATOWN

          5

          6                 My name is Mae Lee.  I am the

          7  Executive Director of the Chinese Progressive

          8  Association, a community- based organization in

          9  Manhattan, Chinatown.  We serve residents, both

         10  youth and adults, who live, work or go to school in

         11  Chinatown.  We also ran a program for Asian

         12  immigrant high school students who are English

         13  Language Learners.  We are one of the collaborators

         14  in the report issued by the New York Immigration

         15  Coalition and Advocates for Children concerning the

         16  small schools and English Language Learners (ELL).

         17                 Many of our parents tell us that they

         18  came to this country so that their children could

         19  have a good education and bright future.  Many of

         20  our parents and students like the idea of small

         21  schools because they afford the opportunity for

         22  smaller classes and in some cases the small schools

         23  provide educational instruction in special areas of

         24  interest.

         25                 At the same time most of our students
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          2  can not utilize the opportunities that these small

          3  schools have to offer because of English language

          4  and other barriers.

          5                 Last year we interviewed and surveyed

          6  many students in and out of our program concerning

          7  small schools. Typically, students did not know that

          8  small schools existed.  They were most often

          9  referred to one of the few schools that serve

         10  Chinese English Language Learners.  Some of these

         11  are small schools, which are quickly becoming large

         12  schools.

         13                 We also found out that some small

         14  schools in or near our neighborhood do not have

         15  English as a second language, bilingual programs or

         16  support services for ELLs.  The school staff tells

         17  us it is because there are not enough or no ELLs

         18  enrolled in the school.  The Ells will never go to

         19  these schools if there are no programs to serve

         20  their needs.

         21                 Our students are bright and qualified

         22  enough to enter these small schools right now.  They

         23  need to have programs that will help them overcome

         24  the English language and cultural barriers they face

         25  as new immigrants so they can succeed.
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          2                 Let's not wait until later to have

          3  these programs, let's start doing it now.

          4                 (Hearing concluded at 1:45 p.m.)
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter, do hereby certify that the

         11  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         12  within proceeding.

         13                 I further certify that I am not

         14  related to any of the parties to this action by

         15  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         16  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         17                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         18  set my hand this 16th day of February 2007.
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         23

                                   ---------------------

         24                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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                              CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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